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CLOSED JO|NT STOCK COMPANY MDO "HUMO"

STATEMENT ОF MANAGEMENT,S RESPONS!BlllтlES FОR ТНЕ PREPARATION AND APPROVAL ОF

тнЕ FlNANclAL STATEMENTS FоR тнЕ YEAR ENDED DEcEMBER 31, 2023

The following Siatement, Which Should Ье read in conjUnction With the independent auditor'S responSibilities

Stated in the-independent auditors report, is made Wiih а view to distinguish ihe respective responsibilities of

rпапаgеmепt and'those of the independent auditors in relatjon to the financial statements of the closed Joint

StосkЪоmрапу Microcredit Deposit organization "Humo" (thе "Соmрапу"),

l!4апаgеmепt is responsible for the рrераrаtiоп of the financial statements that present fаiгlу the financial

роsitiЙ of the СоmрапУ as at DесеmЬеr 31, 2023, the results of its operations, cash flows and.changes iп

shareholders, capitit toi the уевr then ended, in ассоrdапсе with lnternational Financial Reporting standards

(hеrеiпаftэr the "lFRS"),

ln рrера!,iпg the financial ýtatements, management is responsible for:

. Selecting Suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently;

. making judgments and estimates that are rеаSопаЬlе and prudent,

. stаtiп{ЙПе-tПеr lFRS have been followed, subject to any material dераrturеs disclosed and explained iп

ihe financlal statemants, апd, рrераriпg the financial Staten-]ents оп а going сопсеrп basis, unless it is inappropriate to presums that th-,

Соmрапу will contintle iп l,,,usiness fоr the foreseeable fUtUre.

Managernent iS also rеSропsiЬlе fol:

. degigning, implementing and maintaining an effective апd sound System of iпtеrпаl control, throUghout the

Соm р.з пу:. mаiпiаiпiпg рrореr accol]nting rесоrds that disclose, with rеаsопаьlе ассчrасу at апу tirтre. the f]nancial
position oflhe Соmрапу, and Which епаЬlе them to enSure that the financial Staten,lents of the Соmрапу
compiy with lFRS:. nlaintiining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation, accounting stэпdаrds of the

Republic of TajikiStan and requirements Set Ьу the National Bank of Tajikistan;
. taking sut:h stёрs as аrе reasonably available to then1 to safeguard the aSSetS of the Соmрапу; and
. detecting апd рrечепtiпg f|aud and other irregUlarities,

Tire financiai ýtatements f0r the year елdеd DесеmЬеr 3'l, 2023 Wеrе approved апс] authorized fоr issue оп

lJarch 29, 2024 t]y the mапаgеmепt of the compal]y.

Оп behalf of the Мапаgеrrtепt of the Соmрапу:

ш
МауrrпчsоИF. М /
General Dirёctor

Маrсh 29, 2024
[-,lttshanbc;, the Republic of Т

F il,!a ncia l Dir€сtоr

l,,1агсh 29,2024
DUShanbe, tl]e Republic of Tajil(iStan



G Ь"к"гtiltу

Lt-
L_-
t-
l_
l--
l-_l-r--aa
r--f--.al--
-q-l-r_1

L_-
l---l--r-_Jl-
l_
l--r_Jll-t-__l--
l--r-.
l---
l___l

l---a.--_
l_-
L-
l--rIl_
l-
l--r__-l_r__-l--
l_'r-r-L-r-r_L-r-.{L-
l--
L:
l-

З7l1, Bokhtar sГ, office 502 Т: + 992 (44) 600 46 55
Dushanbe, 7З4025 contact@bakeгtilly.tj
RepLrblicofTajikistan WryW,bakertilly-ca,com

lNDEPENDENT AUDlтoR,S REPoRT

То the Shareholders, Supervisory Board and the Мапаgеmепt of the closed Joint Stock Соmрапу l\Лiсrосrеdit

DepoSit organization "Humo"

opinion

We have audited the financial Statements of the closed Joint Stock Соmрапу Microcredit Deposit
Organization "Humo" (the "Соmрапу"), Which соmрrisе the Statement of financial position aS at DесеmЬеr 31,

zоiз, and the Statement of profit оr loss and other comprehensive income, the Statement of changes in equity

and the Statement of cash flows fог the уеаr then ended, and notes to the financial Statements, including а

Summary of significant accounting policieS,

ln очг opinion, the ассоmрапуiпg financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Соmрапу aS at DесеmЬеr 3,1, 2023, and its financial реrfоrmапсе and cash flows fоr the уеаr
then ended in accordance With lnternational Fiпапсiаl Rерогtiпg StandardS (the "lFRS"),

Basis for opinion

We conducted оur audit in ассоrdапсе With lnternational Standards оп Auditing (the "lSA"), Оur
responsibilities uпdеr those standards are fuгther described iп the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Fiпапсiаl statements section of our rероrt, we are independent of the Соmрапу in accordance with the

lnternational EthicS StandardS Board for дссочпtапtS' code of Ethics for Professional AccountantS (the
"lЕsвд code") together with the ethical requirements that аrе relevant to оur audit of the financial statements
п the Republic of Tajikistan, and We have fulfiljed оUr other ethical responsibilitieS in ассоrdапсе With these
requirements and the IESBA Code, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained iS Sufficient and

аррrорriаtе to pгovide а basiS fоr оUr opinion,

Emphasis of matterS

We drаW уоUr attention to Note 19, the Соmрапу calculates ап allowance for expected credit loSSeS оп loans
to customers in ассоrdапсе with IFRS 9 FiпапсiаI Instruments (the "lFRS 9"), which differs frоm the аllОWаПСе

calculated in accordance With the requirements of the National Bank of Tajikistan (the "NBT"), AS of
Dесеmьеr 31, 2023, the allowance fоr eХpected credit loSSeS of loans issued, calculated iп ассоrdапсе With

IFRS 9, amounted to 18,480 thousand somoni апd the rеSеrче calculated iп accordance With the
requirements of the NBT amounted to 23,006 thousand Somoni,

We drаW уоUr attention to Note 2О "lslamic fiпапсе receivables" of the financial statements, The company
calculates аllочr'апсе fоr expected credit losses оп receivables from lslamic finance in accordance With the
requirements of the National Вапk of Tajikistan (the "NBT"), Which iS different from the аllоWапсе fоr expected
cгedit losses on receivables from lslamic finance in accordance With standards of the Accounting and Auditing
organization for lslamic Financial lnStitutionS (the "ААОlFl"),

То comply With the tеrms of lslamic fiпапсе products of the "lslamic Window" of the Соmрапу With the
reqUirements of lSlamic banking, ААОlFl Standards, Specialists frоm the "AlHUda Сепtеr of lSlamic Banking
and Economics" of the UДЕ wеге involved, The audjt confirmed the compliance of ISlamic finance prodUctS

With ААоlFl Standards,

l?esponSibilities of Management and Those charged With Governance forthe Financial Statements

Management is rеsропsiьlе for the рrераrаtiоп and fair presentation of the {inancial statements in ассогdапсе
With IFRSS, compliance With legislation, accounting Standards of the Republic of Tajikistan, rеqUirеmепtS Set

Ьу the National Вапk of Tajikistan and for such internal сопtrоl aS mапаgеп]епt determines iS песеSSаry to

епаьlе the рrераrаtiоп of financial statements that аrе frее frоm material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or еrrоr. lп рrерагiпg the fiпапсiаl Statements, management iS rеSропSiЬlе for aSSeSSing the company'S ability

to continue аs а going сопсеrп, disclosing, aS applicable, matters related to going сопсеrп апd using the

gojng сопсегп basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Соrпрапу оr to cease
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operations, оr has по realistic alternative but to do So, Those charged With gочеrпапсе are responsible for
overseeing the Соmрапу'S financial rероrtiпg рrосеSS,

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fiпапсiаl Statements

ОUr objectives аrе to obtain rеаsопаЬlе assurance about Whether the financial StatementS aS а Whole аrе frее
from material misstatement, Whether due to fraud or еrrоr, апd to issue ап auditor'S rерогt that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance iS а high level of assurance but is not а guarantee that ап audit conducted iп

ассоrdапсе With lSAS Will alwayS detect а material misstatement When it exists, MiSstatementS сап ariSe from
fraud оr еrrог and аrе considered material if, individually оr in the аggrеgаtе, they could reasonably Ье
eХpected to iпflчепсе the economic decisions of users taken оп the basis of these financial Statements.

ДS раrt оГ ап audit in ассоrdапсе With lSAS, We ехеrсisе professional judg ment and maintain professional
skep,ticisnl throughout the audit. we аrе also:

. identify and aSSeSS the risks of material mjsstatement of the financial Statements, Whether due to fгаud or
еrrоr, design and perform audit рrосеdчrеS responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that iS

Sufficient and appropriate to provide а basis for очr орiпiоп, The гisk of not detecting а material
rnisstatem()nt resulting from fraud iS higher than fоr one reSUlting frоm еrrоr, aS fraL]d may involve
colltlSion, forgery, intentional omiSSionS, miSrepresentations, оr the override of il]ternal control,. obtaan ап understanding of jпtеrпаl control relevant to the audit iп оrdеr to design audit рrосеdчrеs that аrе
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing ап opinion on the effectiveness of
the company'S internal control,. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies USed and the reasonableneSS of accounting estjrnates
and related disclosures п,]аdе Ьу management,. conclude on the appropriateness of management'S use of the going сопсеrп basiS of а.соUпtillg and
based on the audit evidence obtained, Whether а material uncertainty exists related to events о!, co.d :,o^S
that mау cast Significani doubt оп the Соmрапу'S ability to continue as а going сопсеrп, lf We conclude
that а material uncertainty eXiStS, We аrе required to draw attention iп очr auditor's rерогt tO 1he rе ated
disclosures in the financial statements оr, if such disclosures аrе inadequate, to modify оur орiпiоп. О!r
conc|usiolls аrе based оп the audit evidence obtained Up to the date of оUr auditoas rероrt, Ноч/ечеr.
{Uture events or conditions may cause the Соmрапу to cease to continue aS а going сопсеrп.. eva|uate the оVеlэll presentation, Structure and content of the financial statements, including tlre
disclosures, and whether the financial Statements rерrеsепt the underlying transacTions and evel,]ts in а
mаппеr that achieveS fаiг presentatjon.

We communicate With those charged With gочеrпапсе rеgаrdiпg, аmопg other matterS, the planned Scope
and tinring of the aUdit and Significant audit findingS, including апу Significant deficiencies in internal control
that We identify duriпg oUf aUdit,

We a|So provide those charged v/ith gочеrпапсе With а Statement that We have complied With relevant ethacal
rеqdiгеmэпts regarding iпdерепdепсе, and to commUnicate With them all relationShipS апd other matters that
may reasonably Ье thought to bear оп очr independence, and Where applicable, related Safeguards,

Shavkatjon Nazirov

Dilector
l,icense of auditor of the Republic of Tajikistan
Number 00001 ,15, issued Ьу National Вапk of Tajikistan
оп Jапчагу 22, 2020

gзkgr Tilly Tajikistan LLC
License Nb, 000014 issued Ьу
National Вапk of TajikiStan

N,lагсh 29, 2024
Dushanbe, the RepUblic of Tajikistan
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CLOSED JO|NT STOCK СОМРАNY MDO "HUMO"

STATEMENT ОF PROF|T OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE lNCOME
FоR тнЕ YEAR ENDED DEсEMBER 31, 2023
(iп thousandS of Tajik sоmопi)
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Notes Fоr the уеаr Fоr the year
ended ended

December 3,1, December 31,
202з 2022

lnterest income
lntereSt expenSeS

NET INTEREST lNcol\.4E вЕFоRЕ EXPEoTED cREDlT LOSSES

Ассгчаl of allowance for expected credit losses оп interest Ьеаriп9 aSsets

NET lNTEREST INCOME

lпсоmе frоm lslamic finance activities

NET lNcoME FRом lSLAMlc FlNANclNG AcT|VlTlES вЕFоRЕ
EXPECTED CREDlT LOSSES

Accrual of allowance for expected credit loSSeS оп lslamic fiпапсе
receivables

NET lNcoME FRol\,,I lSLAMlc FlNANolNG AcTlVlTlES

Net gain frоm commissionS
Net loSS оп орегаtjопS With financial inStruments
Net gain оп foreign exchange орегаtiопS
Ассrчаl of allowance for expected credit losses and impairment losses оп
оthег assets
other non_operating income

NET NoN-lNTEREST lNcoME

Operating ехрепsеs

РRОFlТ ВЕFОRЕ lNCOME ТАХ

lпсоmе tax

NET PROFIT FOR ТНЕ YEAR

other соmрrеhепSiче income

Total comprehensive income

Оп behalf of the Management of the Соmрапу:

_ _ý99]l_ __J!247

4
4

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

\71

377,812
(145,559)

232,253

(13,962)

2,1B,291

254,633
(94,793)

159,840

(5,016)

154,824

1,770190

3,1 90

lr1,7 \

177о

2-94з

5,682
(10,2з8)
11,250

(1,772)
3,571

8-49з

(142,446\

в7,281

(17,666)

-__ 
__99,611

1 987
(2з,261)
67,112

(1 ,4з0)
1 ,,109

45,517

(,1 ] 0,695)

91,з45

(20,098)

71 ,247

-*ж-rffi#-,;
Dushanbe, the Republic of ТаjiКi.lф.}ffilijРi Dushanbe, the Repub|ic of Tajikistan

The notes оп pages 1О-65 fогm ап integral о.Таффti;iu.tеmепts, The independeпt auditoгs' rероrt is оп pages З-4,



CLOSED JO|NT STOCK COMPANY MDO "HUMO"

STATEMENT оF FlNANclAL PoSlтloN
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Notes DесеmЬеr з1, DесеmЬеr з1,
2о2з 2022

ASSETs
cash апd caSh equivalents
Due from Ьапks
obligatory rеSеrче in the National Вапk of Tajikistan
Financial aSSetS at fаir valUe through proJ]t оr loss
Loans to customers
lslamic fiпапсе receivables
Lопg-tегm assets held fог sale
Ргорегtу and equipment
lntangible asSetS
Right of use aSSetS
Deferred tax assets
other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

sHAREHoLDERs, EQUlTY AND LlABILlTlEs

LlABlLlTlES:
Due to banks and financial institutions
customer accounts
ВоrгоWiпgS
subordinated lоапs
Einancial liabilities at fair value throUgh profit оr loSS
Lease liabilities
other ljabilities

EQUlTY
Shаге capital
Additional paid-in capital
Gепеrаl rеsеrчеs
Gепеrаl rеSеrче for performing assets
Revaluation rеsеrче
Retained еаrпiпgs

ToTAL SHAREHoLDERS, EQUlTY AND LlABlLlTlES

Оп behalf of the Management of the Соmрапу:

15
16
17
18
19
2о
21

24
14

,162,335

1з3,393
12,998

8
1,149,560

15,620
,145

зз,738
6,047

1 1,359
3,857

7э ?4о

29,603
8,018

14,121
855,6з5

7,349

27,229
6,24з
6,152
1,482

38,595

1 ,067,а24

65,745

26
27
28
29
18
24
з0

____j9q9щ_

8,668
384,153
831 ,187

з,924
12,278
56,576

1,329,961

99,002
17,47в

16,955
22 2,451

12з,436

264,844

1,594,805

18.865
264,671
469,862
51,ззб
22,462
6,202

55.049

888,447

85,578

8,22з
14,254
2,527

67,995

178,577

о67.о24

з1
3,1

Mayunusov F. М.
General Director

Маrсh 29, 2024

Fiпапсiаl Director

Dushanbe, the Republic of Taji
March 29, 2024
Dushanbe, the Republic of TajikiStan

AS Ат DECEMBER 31, 2023

The notes оп pages 10-65 form ап integral раrt financial statemeпts. The independent аuditоrs'герогt is оп pages З-4,
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CLOSED JO|NT STOCK COMPANY MDO,HUMO"

STATEMENT ОF CASH FLOWS
FoR тнЕ YЕАR ENDED DЕGЕмвЕR 31, 2023
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thousands of r

cAsH FLoWS FRoM oPERAT|NG AcтlvlтlES;

ргоfit before iпсоmе tax

AdjuStments for:

change in allowance for expected credit loSSeS оп interest bearing aSSetS

change iп allowance fоr expected credit losses оп lslamic flnance

receivables
change in allowance for expected credit losses on other assets
Depreciation of рrореrtу and equipment and amortization of intangibIe
aSSetS
Amoгtization of гight-of-use asset
LoSS оп diSposal of рrореrtу апd eqUipment
change in vacation геSегче
Deferred income frоm grant гесеiчеd
lпсоmе frоm lslamic finance activities
Net loSS оп ореrаtiопS With financial inStruments
Losses оп foreign exchange differenceS
Net interest income

cash flows Ьеfоrе changeS iп operating aSsets and liabilities

changeS jn operating aSSetS and liabilities:
Decrease / (increase) in operating assets:
Due from banks
obligatory reserve in the NBT
Financial inStruments at fair value through profit and loSS

Loans to customers
lslamic fiпапсе receivables
Long{erm assets held fоr Sale
other assets
lncrease / (decrease) in operating liabilitieS:

customer accounts
Due to banks and financial institutions
other liabilities

outflow from operating activities before taxation and iпtегеSt

lnterest received
lnterest paid
lпсоmе tax paid

Net cash outflow frоm operating activities

Notes Fоr the уеаr Fоr the year
ended ended

December З1, December 31,
2о2з 2022

87 ,281 91 ,345

1з,962

247
,1,85з

1з,22,23 8,575 5,811

13,24 5,278 5,459

13 34 18

1з 5,868 4 958
12 (7о7) (51з)

6 (з,190) (1,770)

9 10,238 2з,261
10 11 ,281 (14 897)

4 (2з2,25з\ (159,840)

5

7
11

5,016

71

1,604

(91,614) (з9,477)

(33,755)
(4,791)

(11,252)
(301,414)

(5,з28)
75

(з0,102)

(16,707)
(1,з95)

(17,67,|)
(188,826)

(938)
1 ,512

(,10,220)

116,162
(10,385)

5.313

(367,010) (194,815)

62,,109
(14,2s5)

31 ,093

з7з,003
(1з0,787)

250,695
(90,713)

(29,431) (20,381)

1154,225\ (55-214)
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CLOSED JOlNT STOCK COMPANY MDO "HUMO"

STATEMENT ОF CASH FLOWS
FОR ТНЕ YEAR ENDED DEсEMBER 31, 2023 (continued)
(iп thousands of Tajik sоmопi)

Notes Fоr the year Fоr the уеаr
ended ended

December З1, December 3l,
2о2з 2022

cASH FLoWS FRoM lNvESTlNG AcтlvlTlES:

РчrсhаSе of рrореrtу and eqUipment
РгосееdS from diSposal of property апd equipment
PurchaSe of intan9ible aSSetS

Net caSh outflow frоm investing activities

cASH FLoWS FRoM FlNANclNG AcTlvlTlES:

ргосееds fгоm issuance of shares
тах оп dividends withheld from shareholders
Рrосееds fгоm borrowings, net
рrосееds fгоm subordinated lоалs, net
Рауmепt of leaSe liabilities

NeI caS- infloW frоm fiпапсiпg activitieS:

Effect of changeS in ехсhапgе rateS оп cash and cash equivalents

NET lNcREASE(DEcREASE) lN cASH AND cAsH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQU|VALENTS,
at the beginning of the уеаr

CASH AND CASH EQUlVALENTS,
at the end of the year

(10,182)
50

(1,518) (4,303)

(14,74в)- (14,435)

(15,061)
1,831

31

31

з0,902
(14,250)
з35,з96
(21,804)

24 (4,409)

325,835

10 (657)

156,205

15 ________q!J!q

15 __* 2q9Jlз

зз,925
(8,231)
48,580

(16 867)
(5.420 )

51.987

\J rJt /

(23,1 19)

10з,257

80,138

Оп behalf of the Management of the Соmрапу:

ýý. Financial Director

р' Маrсh 2g,2o24

The notes оп pages 10-65 form ап integral раrt of the fiлапсiаl Statements, The iлdependent auditors' rерог| is оп pages З-4,
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CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY MDO “HUMO” 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED December 31, 2023 
(in thousands of Tajik somoni, unless otherwise stated) 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Closed Joint Stock Company Microcredit Deposit Organization “Humo” (the “Company”) has been 
operating in the Republic of Tajikistan since 2008. The Company's activities are regulated by the 
National Bank of Tajikistan (the “NBT”). The Company was registered in the Ministry of Justice of the 
Republic of Tajikistan on August 29, 2008 under number 001-5045 “A” as a Limited Liability Company 
“Humo and Partners”. 

On August 7, 2013, the Company was reorganized and re-registered in the department of registration of 
legal entities and private entrepreneurs under the Tax Committee of the Republic of Tajikistan in the 
form of a Closed Joint Stock Company Microcredit Deposit Organization “Humo”. The main activity of the 
Company is providing loans to legal entities and individuals and attraction of deposits. Also, the 
Company offers a variety of banking services, including but not limited to banking cards, payment 
services, online banking, and foreign currency operations. 

On February 3, 2020, the Company received a license from the National Bank of Tajikistan to carry out 
banking operations based on the principles, norms and rules of Sharia in the form of an “Islamic 
window”. 

The Company is registered and located at 148/1 N. Karaboev str., Dushanbe, Republic of Tajikistan. As 
of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the Company had 24 branches and 49 microfinance 
service centers on the territory of the Republic of Tajikistan. 

The number of employees of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was 1,302 
and 1,138, respectively. 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 structure of shareholders of the Company was as 
follows: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Gojo & Company, Inc 97%  83.7% 
Individuals 3%  3.4% 
Desjardins Fund for Inclusive Finance, LP 0%  12.9% 
    
 100%  100% 

 

The financial statements were approved by the management of the Company on March 29, 2024. 

2. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (the “IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and Interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee. 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the Company’s financial statements are estimated using the currency that best reflects 
the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances related to the Company (the 
“functional currency”). The functional and reporting currency of the accompanying financial statements is 
Tajik somoni (the “somoni”). 
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These financial statements are presented in thousands of Tajik somoni, unless otherwise indicated. 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the 
evaluation of certain financial instruments carried at fair value. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Recognition and valuation of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Company’s statement of financial position 
when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company 
reflects purchasing and sale of financial assets and liabilities, which have regular nature at the date of 
settlements. 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. The acquisition cost of financial 
assets and liabilities that are not financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, is 
adjusted for transaction costs, directly related to the acquisition of a financial asset or financial liability 
origination. The principles of subsequent valuation of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in 
appropriate accounting policies set out below. 

The Company classifies financial assets in the following main categories: 
 
Financial asset measured at amortized cost; 
Financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); 
Financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Debt instruments 

The classification and subsequent accounting of debt instruments depend on: 

a) Business model of the Company used to manage financial assets; 
b) Characteristics of the financial asset and the contractual cash flows. 

Business model 

Business model used by the Company describes the way how the Company manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows, i.e., business model of the Company determines whether the 
cash flows will result from the receipt of contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. 

The Company can apply various financial asset management models in the course of its activities, but it 
is expected that most financial assets will be held till maturity within the framework of the contractual 
cash flow model in accordance with the Company’s development strategy and limited market tools in the 
Republic of Tajikistan. 

SPPI criteria 

In order to assess the compliance of contractual terms of a financial asset with SPPI criteria, the 
Company conducts an SPPI test (the “SPPI test”) for each debt financial asset. During this assessment 
the Company reviews whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with the basic lending 
arrangement, i.e., interest includes only the time value of money, credit risk, other major credit risks and 
profits in accordance with the basic lending arrangement. If the contractual terms include any risk or 
volatility that does not correspond to the basic lending arrangement, the relevant financial asset is 
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into the following three categories: 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost: 

a) The objective of the Company’s business model is to hold the financial asset to collect the contractual 
cash flows. 

b) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by expected credit losses. Interest earned on these 
financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through Other comprehensive income (FVOCI): 

a) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. 

b) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Changes in the carrying amount are recognized in other comprehensive income. The recognition of 
expected credit losses, interest income and changes in foreign currency occurs in profit or loss. When a 
financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. Interest earned on these financial assets is 
recognized in “Interest income” using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): 

The Company classifies financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they do not meet the criteria 
to be measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Gains or losses 
on debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss (that are not part of the hedging 
instruments) are recognized in the statement of profit or loss as part of the “Net Trade Income” in the 
period in which they arise. Interest earned on these financial assets is recognized in “Interest income” 
using the effective interest method. 

Even if an instrument meets the two requirements to be measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, the 
Company has an option to designate, at initial recognition, a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes 
referred to as an 'accounting mismatch') that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases. 

All other debt instruments that do not fit in any of the categories must be measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Equity instruments 

All equity investments of the Company are to be measured at fair value in the statement of financial 
position with fair value changes recognized in profit or loss, except for those equity investments for 
which the Company has elected to present value changes in other comprehensive income. 

Due to the limited market tools available for trading with equity securities in the Republic of Tajikistan, 
the Company classifies equity instruments as measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income when investments are held for purposes other than investment income. In such cases, changes 
in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income and cannot subsequently be reclassified to 
profit or loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other 
income. 

Gains and losses on equity instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in “Net 
trade income” in the statement of profit or loss. 

Reclassification 

The Company reclassifies financial assets if and only if the business model objective for its financial 
assets changes so its previous model assessment would no longer apply. If reclassification is performed, 
it must be done prospectively from the reclassification date which is defined as the first day of the first 
reporting period following the change in business model. The Company does not restate any previously 
recognized gains, losses or interest. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The recognition of a financial asset (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) ceases when: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have ceased; 
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• the Company transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or reserved the right to 
receive cash flows from the asset, but became obliged to pay these cash flows without significant 
delay to a third party under the ‘transfer’ agreement; and 
• the Company either (a) transferred almost all the risks and rewards related to the asset, or (b) 
did not transfer and did not retain almost all the risks and rewards related to the asset, but transferred 
a control over the asset. 

Modification of contractual cash flows 

In circumstances where the Company reviews or modifies the contractual cash flows for a financial 
asset, the Company assesses how significant is a change between the original conditions and the new 
ones. 

If new conditions differ significantly, the Company derecognizes the original financial asset and 
recognizes a new financial asset at fair value and recalculates the new effective interest rate for the 
asset. At the date of modification, the Company calculates revised expected credit losses and 
determines whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. However, the Company also evaluates 
whether a newly recognized financial asset is considered to be impaired upon initial recognition, 
especially in cases where the revision was due to the fact that the borrower was unable to make the 
originally agreed payments. The difference in the carrying value of financial assets is reflected in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

If conditions do not differ significantly, then revision or change does not lead to derecognition. The 
Company recalculates the carrying amount using the initial effective interest rate according to the 
changes in cashflows and the effect is recognized as profit or loss on modification within the statement 
of profit or loss. 

If a modification results in an increase of significant risks according to the methodology for calculating of 
expected credit losses, then the contract modification affects the impairment calculation according to the 
methodology presented in Note 36. 

Classification and subsequent accounting of financial liabilities 

The Company classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost, except for: 

a) financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. Such liabilities, including liability 
derivatives, are subsequently measured at fair value; 

b) financial liabilities that arise when the transfer of a financial asset does not meet the requirements for 
derecognition or when the principle of continuing participation accounting is applied; 

c) financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments at an interest rate lower than the market. After 
initial recognition, such contracts should be subsequently evaluated on the basis of the largest of the 
following amounts: 

i) the amount of the impairment allowance created by the Company; and 
ii) the amount initially recognized less the total amount of income, if applicable; 

d) contingent consideration recognized by the acquirer in a business combination. Such contingent 
consideration is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Upon initial recognition of a financial liability, the Company may, in its own discretion, classify it, without 
the right of subsequent reclassification, as measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Offset of assets and liabilities 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial obligation (or part of it) is considered extinguished when the debtor: 
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(a) either fulfils this obligation (or part of it) by paying off the lender, generally in cash, other financial 
assets, goods or services,  
(b) is either legally relieved of primary liability for that obligation (or part of it), as a result of the 
performance of the legal procedure or as a result of the creditor's decision. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities occurs also in the case of significant changes in cash flows, i.e., if the 
present value of cash flows in accordance with the new conditions, including the payment of commission 
after deduction of commission received, discounted at the original effective interest rate, differs by at 
least 10% of the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and due from banks, short-term highly liquid 
investments, which can be converted to the corresponding amount of cash in the short term. 

Due from banks 

During ordinary activity the Company allocates funds and deposits in banks on different periods. Due 
from banks initially recognized at fair value. Due from banks are subsequently evaluated at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Due from credit institutions are taken into account after 
deduction of any allowance for expected credit losses. 

Derivatives 

During ordinary activity the Company concludes agreements on various derivative financial instruments. 
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date of the contract for a derivative and are 
subsequently revaluated to their fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is estimated based on 
quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account current market and contractual prices of 
the underlying instruments and other factors. Derivatives are taken into account as assets when their fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Derivatives are included in financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the balance sheet. Profits and losses arising from these 
instruments are included in net profit / losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Loans to customers 

Loans to customers are financial assets that are not derivative financial instruments with fixed or 
determinable payments that do not have market quotations, except for assets which are classified in 
other categories of financial instruments. 

Loans issued by the Company are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition or establishment of such financial assets. If the fair value of the provided 
funds is not equal to the fair value of loans, for example, in the case of providing loans at rate below than 
market rates, difference between the fair value of provided funds and the fair value of loans is 
recognized as a loss on initial recognition of loans and is represented in the income statement in 
accordance with the nature of such damages. Subsequently, loans are taken into account at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate. Loans to customers are taken into account after deduction of 
allowance for impairment. 

Write-off of loans and advances 

In the case of impossibility of recovery of loans, including through repossession of collateral, they are 
written-off against the allowance for expected credit losses. Loans and provided funds are written - off 
after taking by the management of the Company measures to recover amounts owed to the Company 
and after selling by the Company all available collateral. Subsequent recoveries of previously written-off 
amounts are reflected as an offset to the charge for impairment of financial assets in the statement of 
profit or loss in the period of recovery. 

Allowance for expected credit losses 

The Company recognizes an estimated allowance for expected credit losses (the “ECL”) on loans 
issued. The Company recognizes such losses at each reporting date by assessing the existence of 
impairment evidence. The impairment assessment model of financial assets provides for the assessment 
of expected credit losses within 12 months and throughout the lifetime of the financial asset. 
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The Company’s expected losses model is based on the following principles: 

Stage 1: 12-month expected credit losses - expected credit losses that result from those default events 
on the financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date; 
Stage 2: full lifetime expected credit losses - expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the life of the financial instrument; 
Stage 3: expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial 
instrument, but interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
(using effective interest rate) less impairment allowance. 

Expected credit losses reflect an objective calculation of the probability-weighted value, which is 
determined by assessing a number of possible outcomes. 

The Company estimates expected credit losses on a financial instrument using a model that reflects: 

a) unbiased and probability-weighted amount determined by assessing the range of possible 
outcomes; 
b) time value of money; and 
c)reasonable and verifiable information on past events, current conditions and projected future economic 
conditions available at the reporting date without excessive cost or effort. 

The Company creates an estimated allowance for expected credit losses on the following financial 
instruments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

• financial assets that are debt instruments; 
• receivables from (financial) leases; 
• issued financial guarantee contracts; and 
• issued loan obligations. 

Impairment losses on equity-based investments are not reflected in the financial statements. 

The Company calculates an allowance for losses for the entire period of expected credit losses, except 
for the following instruments, for which such losses are estimated as expected credit losses within 12 
months: 

• debt Investments, which are defined as having low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
• other financial instruments (other than receivables) for which credit risk has not increased 
significantly after their initial recognition in the financial statements. 

Estimated impairment allowance for receivables on (financial) leases is always calculated over the entire 
period of expected credit losses. 

The Company believes that a debt security has a low credit risk if its credit rating corresponds to the 
internationally accepted definition of the term “investment class”. 

Expected credit losses in a period of 12 months are part of the expected credit losses that arise as a 
result of defaults on the financial instrument, expected within 12 months after the reporting date. 

Expected credit losses are calculated taking into account the probability-weighted credit losses. They are 
evaluated as follows: 

• for financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: the present value of all 
cash flows that has not been received (the difference between the cash flows under the contractual 
terms and expected cash flows to be received by the Company); 
• for financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows; 
• for loan commitments: the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows if 
the commitment is used and expected cash flows to be received by the Company; and 
• for financial guarantee contracts: expected payments to the holders of the contracts, less any 
amounts that the Company expects to collect as a penalty. 

Changes in expected credit losses are recognized in the profit or loss using an allowance account. The 
assets reflected in the statement of financial position are reduced by the amount of expected credit 
losses. The following indicators are considered by the Company when determining the existence of 
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impairment evidence: the debtor’s or issuer's liquidity, their solvency, business and financial risks, levels 
and trends of defaults on similar financial assets, national and local forecasts on economic trends and 
conditions, and the fair value of collateral and guarantees. 

These and other factors, individually or collectively, provide objective evidence for recognizing expected 
credit losses of a financial asset or group of financial assets. 

More detailed information on the calculation of expected credit losses is provided in Note 36. 

The Company calculates allowance for expected credit losses on loan portfolio according to the 
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial instruments” and requirements of the National 
Bank of Tajikistan. The calculation of allowance for impairment of loans issued in accordance with the 
IFRS approach differs from the allowance calculated in accordance with the requirements of the National 
Bank of Tajikistan (the “NBT”). 

Property and equipment and intangible assets 

Property and equipment and intangible assets are carried at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment, except for buildings which carried at revalued amounts, 
being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation begins when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 
the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and constructions 2% 
Computer and equipment 20% 
Furniture and fixtures 20% 
Vehicles 20% 
Improvement of leased property 20-50% 
Intangible assets 10% 

 

Amortization of leasehold improvements is calculated over the useful life of the related leased assets. 
The cost of repair and overhaul are reflected in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income within operating expenses as incurred unless they meet the requirements for capitalization. 

On each reporting date the Company estimates whether the carrying value of fixed and intangible assets 
does not exceed the replacement cost. Replacement cost is a higher value of fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. In case of exceeding the carrying value of fixed and intangible assets over their 
replacement value the Company reduces the carrying value of fixed assets to their replacement cost. 
After the recognition of an impairment loss the depreciation charge for fixed assets is adjusted in future 
periods to allocate the revised carrying value of assets, less its residual value (if any) over the remaining 
useful life. 

Leases 

The Company leases buildings and offices. Lease agreements, as usual, are concluded for fixed 
periods, but can be extended. Agreements may contain both lease and non-lease components. The 
Company allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on 
their relative stand-alone prices. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide 
range of different terms and conditions. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 
purposes. 

Until the 2019 financial year, leases of property and equipment were classified in the Company's 
financial statements as either a finance lease or an operating lease. From 1 January 2019, the lease is 
recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability on the date the leased asset is 
available for use by the Company. Assets and liabilities arising from the lease are initially measured at 
their present value. Lease obligations include the net present value of the following lease payments: 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable  
• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date  
• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees  
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• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and  
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 

option. 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value 
of the lease payments that have not yet been settled at that date. The lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally 
the case for leases in the Company, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that 
the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value 
in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company: 

• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the Company as a starting point, 
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received  

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases 
held by the Company, which does not have recent third-party financing, and  

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g., term, country, currency and security. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received 
• any initial direct costs, and 
• restoration costs. 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease 
term on a straight-line basis. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit 
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. 

The Company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or 
rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease 
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the 
right-of-use asset. 

Payments associated with short-term leases of offices, premises and equipment and all leases of low-
value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases 
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and probability to extend the lease contract is very low. 

Income from operating leases where the Company is a lessor is recognized in income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Initial significant direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized as expense over the lease term on 
the same basis as lease income. The Company did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting 
for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard. 

Definition of Essential Terms of the Islamic Window 

Murabaha 

A method where the Company purchases goods from a broker and takes ownership of them and takes 
legal possession of them, and then sells them to a client on a deferred payment basis. The customer 
then sells the same asset to a third party on immediate delivery and payment terms, and ultimately the 
customer receives a cash amount and is liable for a deferred payment to the Company for the increased 
amount. Basically, the underlying asset is a highly liquid commodity such as platinum or palladium. In 
accordance with the principles of Sharia, gold and silver are considered monetary funds and cannot be 
used for these purposes. 
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Mudarabah 

A deposit in which the client (partner) transfers his funds to the Company for trust management. The 
Company, in turn, invests money in business projects permitted by Sharia in order to receive profit and 
distribute it between the parties in the ratios specified in the Mudarabah agreement. 

AAOIFI standards 

AAOIFI Standards - Accounting and Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions based on 
Sharia law and applicable to banking services. 

Long-term assets held for sale 

The Company recognizes long-term assets as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. At the same time, these assets 
must be ready for immediate sale in their present condition and probability of their sale during the year 
since classification must be high. Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. In case of excess of carrying amount over fair value 
less costs to sell, the Company recognizes impairment loss in the statement of profit and loss. Any 
subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell is recognized in amount does not exceed the amount 
of accumulated impairment losses previously recognized. 

Taxation 

Income tax expense represents sum of the current and deferred tax. 

Current tax 

Income tax payable for current period is recognized based on taxable income amount earned during the 
year. Taxable income differs from income that is reported in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, because it does not cover items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and also excludes items that are not taxable or deductible for taxation 
purposes. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences when the Company is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part 
of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realized. Deferred tax is reflected in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, except when they connected with items, which are directly related to equity, and 
in this case deferred tax is also reflected within equity. 

The Company conducts netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities and reflects summary difference in 
the financial statement, if: 

• The Company has a legally enforceable right for netting current tax assets against current tax 
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liabilities; and 
• Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to corporate taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority from the same taxable entity. 

In addition to income tax there are requirements on accrual and payments of various taxes applicable to 
the Company’s activities in the Republic of Tajikistan where the Company performs its activities. 

The Tax Code of the Republic of Tajikistan was revised, and a new format was adopted, effective from 
January 1, 2022. These revisions include changes to the eligibility criteria for certain temporary 
differences to be considered in the calculation of deferred tax assets. 

Borrowings and subordinated loans 

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently received amounts are reflected at 
amortized cost and difference between the carrying and the redemption value is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method within interest expense. 

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position but are disclosed in 
financial statements unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is 
not recognized in the statement of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 

Share capital 

Share capital is recognized at initial cost. 

Dividends are recorded as a reduction in the period in which they are declared. Dividends declared after 
the reporting date is treated as an event after the reporting date under IAS 10 “Events after the reporting 
period” and information about it is disclosed accordingly. 

General reserves 

The Company creates a reserve for future operations, which is formed by mandatory annual deductions 
according to the decision of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. This reserve is intended solely 
to cover the losses of the Company. The decision on the use of the reserve fund of the Company is also 
taken by the Management of the Company upon preliminary approval of the annual report. 

Pension liabilities 

In accordance with the laws of the Republic of Tajikistan the Company withholds the amount of pension 
contributions from employee’s salaries and transfers them to the State pension fund. The existing 
pension system provides for the calculation of current payments by the employer as a percentage of 
current gross salary payments. Such expenses are recognized in the period, which includes 
appropriately payment for employees. At retirement, all pension payments are implemented by above 
mentioned pension fund. The Company does not have any pension arrangements separate from the 
State pension system of the Republic of Tajikistan. In addition, the Company has no benefits provided to 
employees upon retirement, or other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual. 

Recognition of interest income and expense 

Interest income on financial assets is recognized when there is a high probability that the Company will 
receive an economic benefit and the amount of income can be reliably determined. Interest income and 
expense are recognized on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. The effective interest 
method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group 
of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate by which future cash receipts are estimated to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition of financial assets and liabilities. Discounting is made through the expected 
life of the debt instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period. 

Interest earned on assets at fair value is classified within interest income. 
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Recognition of commission income and expenses 

Commission for loan origination and related direct costs associated with the loans providing are reflected 
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on loans. 

If there is a possibility that due to the presence of a liability of providing a credit will be signed a contract 
for a loan, commitment fee on the loan included in deferred revenue (together with related direct costs) 
and subsequently recognized as adjustment to actual income on the loan. If the probability of that the 
commitment to extend credit is estimated as low, the commitment fee on the loan is recognized in the 
income statement over the remaining period of the loan commitment. Upon expiration credit 
commitments, which are not completed by providing a loan, commitment fee on the loan is recognized in 
the income statement on the date of its expiration. 

Foreign currency exchange 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are exchanged to Tajik somoni at the 
market rates prevailing on December 31. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are reported at 
the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. Any gains or losses arising from a change 
in exchange rates after the date of the transaction are included as an exchange gain or loss in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Exchange rate 

Below are the official exchange rates of foreign currencies against the Tajik somoni at the end of the 
year used by the Company during preparation of the financial statements were: 

 
December 31, 

2023 
 December 31, 

2022 
US dollar 10.9571  10.2024 
Euro 12.0944  10.8911 
Russian ruble 0.1217  0.1445 

 

Areas of significant use of estimates and assumptions of management 

The preparation of financial statements requires from Management to make estimates and assumptions 
that have an influence on reported amounts of assets and liabilities of the Company, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date and there ported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. The Company’s management conducts evaluations and 
judgments on an ongoing basis, based on previous experience and a number of other factors that are 
considered reasonable in the current environment. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The 
following estimates and assumptions are important to present financial position of the Company. 

Leases 

The two main areas of judgment with regards to quantification of the ROU asset and lease liability are 
the determination of lease term and the discount rate. 

Determining lease term 

The Company’s expectation of exercising the option to renew a lease will be determined by assessing if 
the Company is “reasonably certain” to exercise that option. The Company will be reasonably certain to 
exercise an option when factors create a significant economic incentive to do so. This assessment will 
require a significant level of judgement as it is based on current expectations of future decisions. The 
lease term will have an impact on the calculation of the ROU asset and the lease liability; the longer the 
lease term, the higher the ROU asset and the related lease liability. Changes in the economic 
environment may impact the Company’s assessment of lease term, and any changes in the estimate of 
lease terms may have a material impact on the Company’s ROU assets and lease liabilities. 

Discount rate 
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At commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the future 
lease payments, discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. The Company will 
consider a broad range of factors to determine the appropriate discount rate. These will include the 
Company’s credit risk, term of the lease, the economic environment and geographical location in which 
the lease is entered into. 

Allowance for expected credit losses of loans and accounts receivable 

The Company regularly reviews its loans for impairment. Reserves of the Company’s loan impairment 
are established to recognize incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans and receivables. The 
Company considers accounting estimates related to the allowance for expected credit losses of loans 
and receivables, a key source of uncertainty of estimation due to the fact that (i) they are highly 
susceptible to change from period to period as the assumptions on future non-compliance indicators and 
assessment of potential losses related to impaired loans and receivables, based on recent work, and (ii) 
any significant difference between the estimated losses and actual losses of the Company requires from 
the Company to create reserves, which could have a material impact on its financial statements in future 
periods. 

The Company uses management judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases 
where the borrower has financial difficulties and there is little historical data relating to similar borrowers. 
Analogously, the Company estimates changes in future cash flows based on past experience, the 
client’s behavior in the past, the available data, indicating an adverse change in the status of repayment 
by borrowers in the group, as well as national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on 
assets in this group. Management uses estimates based on historical experience of losses on assets 
with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in this group of 
loans. The Company uses an assessment of Management for adjusting the available data on a group of 
loans to reflect current circumstances not reflected in historical data. 

It should be taken into account that the assessment of expected credit losses includes a subjective 
factor. The Company's management believes that the amount of the recognized impairment is sufficient 
to cover losses incurred on assets subject to risks at the reporting date, taking into account forecast 
data, although it is possible that in certain periods the Company may incur losses greater than the 
created reserve for expected credit losses. 

The allowances for impairment of financial assets in the financial statements have been determined on 
the basis of existing economic conditions. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the 
carrying amount of allowances for expected credit losses losses on loans to customers amounted to 
10,965 thousand somoni and 8,809 thousand somoni, respectively (Note 20). 

Calculation of the fair value of unquoted securities 

Due to the limited market tools and the number of observed transactions on the purchase and sale of 
securities in the Republic of Tajikistan, the Company uses alternative methods for estimating the market 
value of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss. 
These estimates may differ from the market value of the securities if there was an active market or a 
transaction with a third party. 

Application of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRSs) of the financial 
statements 

The Company has adopted the following new or revised standards and interpretations issued by 
International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (the “IFRIC”) which became effective for the Company’s financial statement for the year 
ended December 31, 2023: 

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) require that 
an entity discloses its material accounting policies, instead of its significant accounting policies. 
Further amendments explain how an entity can identify a material accounting policy. To support the 
amendment, the Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the 
application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2. Annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 
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• The amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors replace 
the definition of changes in accounting estimates with the definition of accounting estimates. Under 
the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are 
subject to measurement uncertainty”. Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies 
require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty. 
The amendments clarify that a change in accounting estimate that results from new information or 
new developments is not the correction of an error. Annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023. 

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 
12 Income Taxes) clarifies that the initial recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in 
which equal amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition. 
Annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 

• The amendments to initial Application of IFRS 17 Leases and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — 
Comparative Information (Amendment to IFRS 17) permit entities that first apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 
at the same time to present comparative information about a financial asset as if the classification 
and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 had been applied to that financial asset before. Annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements) aims to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain 
settlement date should be classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one year) 
or non-current. Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. 

• Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements) 
clarifies how conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting 
period affect the classification of a liability. Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2024. 

• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases) clarifies how a seller-
lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 
15 to be accounted for as a sale. Applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2024. 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures—Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture. The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The effective date of the 
amendments has yet to be set by the IASB; however, earlier application of the amendments is 
permitted. 

The adoption of the new or revised standards did not have significant effect on the financial position or 
performance of the Company. 

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective 

A number of new Standards and Interpretations have been issued and not yet adopted as at December 
31, 2023 and had not been applied in preparation of these financial statements. Following Standards 
and Interpretations are relevant to operations of the Company. The Company intends to adopt these 
Standards and Interpretations from their effective dates. The Company has not analyzed potential effect 
of adoption of these standards on its financial statements. 

At the date of authorization of this financial information, the following new standards and interpretations 
were in issue, but not mandatorily yet effective, and which the Company has not early adopted: 

• Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of cash flows” and IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures” 
which will introduce targeted disclosure requirements that will enhance transparency of supplier 
finance arrangements and their effects on Bank’s liabilities and cash flows. 

• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” requires classifying liabilities as current 
or noncurrent based on Bank’s rights to defer settlement for at least 12 months which must exist and 
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have a substance as at the reporting date. Only covenants with which a company must comply on or 
before the reporting date may affect this right. 

• Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” which introduce a new model for accounting of variable payments 
and will require seller-lessees to reassess and possibly restate sale-leaseback transactions. 

• Introduction of IFRS S1 “General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial 
Information” and IFRS S2 “Climate-related Disclosures” which provide a framework for Banks to 
report on all sustainability-related topics across the areas of governance, strategy and risk 
management. These standards are also designed to disclose information that is expected to affect 
the assessments that investors make about Bank’s future cash flows. 

The Company intends to adopt these new standards and amendments, if applicable, when they become 
effective. 

4. NET INTEREST INCOME 

Interest income and expenses of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 
31, 2022 are as follows: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

Interest income includes:    
Interest income from financial assets measured at amortized cost:    
Loans to customers:    

unimpaired financial assets 375,202  253,012 
impaired financial assets 1,468  986 

Investments 344  237 
Due from banks 798  398 
    
Total interest income on financial assets measured at amortized cost 377,812  254,633 
    
Interest expenses includes:    
Interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:    
Borrowings 103,648  64,885 
Customer accounts 34,337  22,653 
Subordinated loans 5,410  6,358 
Lease liabilities 2,164  897 
    
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 145,559  94,793 
    
Net interest income 232,253  159,840 
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5. ACCRUAL OF ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON INTEREST BEARING ASSETS 

Accrual of allowance for expected credit losses on interest bearing assets of the Company for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows: 

 
Loans to 

customers  
Due from banks 

 
Total 

      
at December 31, 2021 8,809  303  9,112 
      
Accrual/(Recovery) 3,571  1,445  5,016 
Write-off (2,713)  -  (2,713) 
Recovery of previously written-off loans 1,298  -  1,298 
      
at December 31, 2022 10,965  1,748  12,713 
      
Accrual 12,560  1,402  13,962 
Write-off (1,518)  -  (1,518) 
Recovery of previously written-off loans 999  -  999 
      
at December 31, 2023 23,006  3,150  26,156 

 

6. INCOME FROM ISLAMIC FINANCE ACTIVITIES 

Income from Islamic financing activities of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Murabaha 3,190  1,770 
    
 3,190  1,770 

 

7. ACCRUAL OF ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON ISLAMIC FINANCE 
RECEIVABLES 

Accrual of allowance for expected credit losses on Islamic finance receivables of the Company for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows: 

 2023  2022 
    
as at January 1            203              132  
    
Accrual            247                71  
    
as at December 31            450              203  
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8. NET GAIN FROM COMMISSIONS 

Net gain from commissions of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022 are as follows: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

Commission income    
Service of customer accounts 10,625  6,348 
Service of bank cards 3,947  2,266 
Money transfers 587  2,016 
Other 1  1 
 15,160  10,631 
Commission expenses    
Service of bank cards 6,734  5,938 
Service of customer accounts 2,744  2,706 
 9,478  8,644 
    
 5,682  1,987 
    

 

9. NET LOSS ON OPERATIONS WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Net loss on operations with financial instruments of the Company for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022 comprises: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Income from operations with financial instruments 7,115  24,679 
Loss from operations with financial instruments (17,353)  (47,940) 
    
 (10,238)  (23,261) 

 

10. NET GAIN ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE OPERATIONS 

Net gain on foreign exchange operations of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022 comprises: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Dealing, net 21,874  57,672 
Foreign exchange differences, net (10,624)  9,440 
    
 11,250  67,112 
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11. ACCRUAL OF ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON 
OTHER ASSETS 

(Accrual)/recovery of allowance for impairment losses on other assets of the Company for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as follows: 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 

Obligatory 
reserve in the 

NBT 
 

Provision for 
Long-term 

assets held for 
sale  

Other assets 

 

Total 

          
at December 31, 
2021 474  142  895  171  1,682 
          
(Recovery)/accrual 20  27  (611)  1,994  1,430 
Write-off -  -  (179)  (933)  (1,112) 
          
at December 31, 
2022 494  169  105  1,232  2,000 
          
Accrual/(recovery) 862  106  18  786  1,772 
Write-off -  -  (36)  (13)  (49) 
          
at December 31, 
2023 1,356  275  87  2,005  3,723 

 

12. OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME 

Other non-operating income of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022 comprise: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Income from sale of license  2,022  511 
Deferred income from grant received 707  513 
Other 842  85 
    
 3,571  1,109 

During 2023 and 2022 the Company gained income from sales of license for its software electronic 
wallet “Humo Online”. It is one-time income from sales. 

On April 13, 2022, Company entered into a bilateral agreement with DAI Global, LLC. Based on this 
agreement, the Company received a grant of 59 thousand US dollars. The funds received from the grant 
were used for the purchase of POS terminals. 
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13. OPERATING EXPENSES 

Operating expenses of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 
comprise: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Salary 71,402  56,196 
Social fund 15,514  12,141 
Depreciation and amortization 8,575  5,811 
Bank fee 6,485  4,744 
Accrual of unused vacation provision 5,868  4,958 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 5,278  5,459 
Legal and other professional services 3,379  3,871 
Low valuable items 3,359  2,636 
Advertisement 3,343  1,744 
Fuel 2,532  2,367 
Information technology 2,087  1,483 
Security 2,084  1,847 
Taxes, other than income tax 1,412  700 
Communication 1,377  1,056 
Membership fees and payments 1,231  775 
Business trip 1,159  791 
Utility 1,069  871 
Fixed assets maintenance 937  695 
Entertainment 822  633 
Rent 754  428 
Donations and charitable contributions 236  234 
Insurance 63  51 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 34  18 
Fines and penalties 2  - 
Other 3,444  1,186 
    
 142,446  110,695 

 

14. INCOME TAX 

The Company measures and records its current income tax payable and its tax bases in its assets and 
liabilities in accordance with the tax regulations of the Republic of Tajikistan, which may differ from IFRS. 
During 2023 and 2022 on the territory of the Republic of Tajikistan income tax rate was 20% respectively 
for taxable profit of the Company. 

The Company is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to the non-tax deductibility of certain 
expenses and certain income being treated as non-taxable for tax purposes. 

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. 
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Temporary differences as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 relate mostly to different 
methods of income and expense recognition as well as to temporary differences generated by tax – 
book bases differences for certain assets and liabilities. 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Current income tax expenses 20,041  20,403 
Changes in deferred income tax (2,375)  (305) 
    
Income tax expense 17,666  20,098 

 

Reconciliation of tax and accounting profits for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022 is as follows: 

 For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023 

 Effective tax 
rate 

 For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

 Effective tax 
rate 

        
Profit before income tax 87,281    91,345   
        
Tax at statutory rate 17,456  20%  18,269  20% 
Tax effect on permanent differences 209  0%  1,829  2% 
        
Income tax expense 17,666  20%  20,098  22% 

 

Tax effect from temporary differences as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 is presented 
below: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
Deferred income tax assets:    
Allowance on expected credit losses for obligatory reserve in the NBT 275  - 
Allowance on expected credit losses for cash and cash equivalents 1,356  - 
Allowance on expected credit losses for due from banks 3,150  - 
Allowance on expected credit losses for other assets 2,005   
Financial instruments recognized through profit and loss 2,732  4 
Depreciation of property and equipment and intangible assets 3,251  - 
Lease liabilities 12,278  6,202 
Provision for unused vacations 5,599  4,046 
Accrued interest payable -  4,063 
Income from grants received -  33 
    
Total deferred income tax asset 30,646  14,348 
    
Deferred income tax liabilities:    
Depreciation of property and equipment and intangible assets -  788 
Right of use assets 11,359  6,152 
    
Total deferred income tax liabilities 11,359  6,940 
    
Net deferred income tax liabilities 19,287  7,408 
Net deferred income tax liabilities (at statutory tax rate 20%) 3,857  1,482 
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Temporary differences between tax accounting and current financial statement lead to deferred tax 
liabilities as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 as a result of the following: 

 

December 31,  
2022 

 Recognized in 
the statement of 
profit and loss 

 Recognized in 
capital 

 December 31,  
2023 

        
Temporary differences        
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for loans to customers -  55  -  55 
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for obligatory reserve in the NBT -  271  -  271 
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for cash and cash equivalents -  630  -  630 
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for due from banks -  401  -  401 
Depreciation of property and 
equipment and intangible assets (158)  808  -  650 
Financial instruments recognized 
through profit and loss 1  545  -  546 
Provision for long term assets held for 
sale 1,240  (1,240)  -  - 
Lease liabilities 809  1,647  -  2,456 
Provision for unused vacations 813  307  -  1,120 
Accrued interest payable 7  (7)  -  - 
Income from grants received -  -  -  - 
Right of use assets (1,230)  (1,042)  -  (2,272) 
        
 1,482  2,375  -  3,857 

 
 

 

December 31,  
2021 

 Recognized in 
the statement of 
profit and loss 

 Recognized in 
capital 

 December 31,  
2022 

        
Temporary differences        
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for loans to customers 326  (326)  -  - 
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for obligatory reserve in the NBT 28  (28)  -  - 
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for cash and cash equivalents 95  (95)  -  - 
Allowance on expected credit losses 
for due from banks 61  (61)  -  - 
Depreciation of property and 
equipment and intangible assets (417)  259  -  (158) 
Financial instruments recognized 
through profit and loss 405  (404)  -  1 
Provision for long term assets held for 
sale 179  (179)  -  - 
Lease liabilities 742  498  -  1,240 
Provision for unused vacations 477  332  -  809 
Accrued interest payable -  813  -  813 
Income from grants received 20  (13)  -  7 
Right of use assets (739)  (491)  -  (1,230) 
        
 1,177  305  -  1,482 
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15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 cash and cash equivalents of the Company consisted 
of the following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Cash on hand 98,170  48,954 
Current account at the NBT 65,521  23,899 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (1,356)  (494) 
    
 162,335  72,359 

 

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses is disclosed in Note 11. 

Cash and cash equivalents of the Company presented in the statement of cash flows include following 
components: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Cash on hand and current account at the National Bank of Tajikistan 162,335  72,359 
Correspondent accounts and interbank loans (including allowance on ECL) 74,008  7,779 
    
 236,343  80,138 

 

16. DUE FROM BANKS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 due from banks consisted of the following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Correspondent accounts with other banks 75,905  8,977 
Time deposits 60,638  22,374 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (3,150)  (1,748) 
    
 133,393  29,603 

 

Correspondent accounts with other banks represent correspondent accounts with local and Russian 
banks. As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 balances of correspondent accounts in 
Russian banks amounted to 1,169 thousand somoni and 4,321 thousand somoni, respectively. 

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses is disclosed in Note 5. 
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17. OBLIGATORY RESERVE IN THE NATIONAL BANK OF TAJIKISTAN 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 obligatory reserve in the National Bank of Tajikistan 
consisted of the following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Obligatory reserve in the NBT 13,273  8,187 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (275)  (169) 
    
 12,998  8,018 

 

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses is disclosed in Note 11. 

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

As at December 31, 2023 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are presented as 
follows: 

 Nominal value  Fair value 
 Receivables  Payables  Receivables  Payables 
        
Swap 82,791  82,794  -  3,429 
Forward 6,844  6,845  -  495 
Spot 29,187  29,179  8  - 
        
 118,822  118,818  8  3,924 

 

As at December 31, 2022 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are presented as 
follows: 

 Nominal value  Fair value 
 Receivables  Payables  Receivables  Payables 
        
Swap 100,447  108,459  -  8,012 
Spot 44,381  44,710  14,121  14,450 
        
 144,828  153,169  14,121  22,462 

 

19. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 loans to customers of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Loans to customers 1,149,962  848,536 
Revised and overdue loans 16,350  9,703 
Interest accrued 19,478  14,669 
Unamortized portion of front-end commission on loans to customers (13,224)  (6,308) 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (23,006)  (10,965) 
    
 1,149,560  855,635 



32 

Breakdown of loans by sectors is presented below: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Analysis by sector    
Consumer sector 585,093  380,769 
Agriculture 288,739  264,067 
Services 124,082  88,398 
Industry 92,800  74,175 
Trade 45,431  40,494 
Other 36,421  18,697 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (23,006)  (10,965) 
    
 1,149,560  855,635 

 

The table below summarizes carrying value of loans to customers analyzed by type of collateral: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
Analysis by collateral    
Unsecured 971,153  667,808 
Deposit 125,364  92,444 
Household goods 33,817  34,218 
Real estate 19,248  17,477 
Gold 10,468  35,244 
Other 12,516  19,409 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (23,006)  (10,965) 
    
 1,149,560  855,635 

 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the loan portfolio of 1,149,560 thousand somoni and 
855,635 thousand somoni (including accrued interest and allowance), respectively, were issued to 
clients operating on the territory of the Republic of Tajikistan which represent significant geographical 
concentration and the maximum size of credit risk. 

Information on the quality of loans to customers measured at amortized cost as at December 31, 2023 
and December 31, 2022 is provided in the table below. The presented amounts reflect the gross carrying 
amount of financial assets divided by measurement stages used to calculate impairment. 

 

12-month ECL 

 

ECL during the 
whole period - 

unimpaired 
loans  

ECL during the 
whole period - 
impaired loans 

 

Total 

        
As at December 31, 2021 665,193  1,822  3,086  670,101 
        
Assets recognized in the period 3,275,476  -  -  3,275,476 
Recovery of previously written-off 
loans -  -  1,298  1,298 
        
Movement to 1st Stage 7  (7)  -  - 
Movement to 2nd Stage (4,326)  4,326  -  - 
Movement to 3rd Stage (63)  (2,952)  3,015  - 
        
Assets repaid (except write-off) (3,070,385)  (869)  -  (3,071,254) 
Write-off -  -  (2,713)  (2,713) 
        
As at December 31, 2022 865,902  2,320  4,686  872,908 
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12-month ECL 

 

ECL during the 
whole period - 

unimpaired 
loans  

ECL during the 
whole period - 
impaired loans 

 

Total 

        
As at December 31, 2022 865,902  2,320  4,686  872,908 
        
Assets recognized in the period 4,720,388  -  -  4,720,388 
Recovery of previously written-off 
loans -  -  938  938 
        
Movement to 1st Stage 650  (650)  -  - 
Movement to 2nd Stage (11,107)  11,183  (76)  - 
Movement to 3rd Stage -  (7,836)  7,836  - 
        
Assets repaid (except write-off) (4,400,631)  (2,001)  (4,294)  (4,406,926) 
Write-off -  -  (1,518)  (1,518) 
        
As at December 31, 2023 1,175,202  3,016  7,572  1,185,790 

 

The table below presents analysis of changes in allowance on loans to customers in terms of expected 
credit losses for December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.  

 

12-month ECL 

 

ECL during the 
whole period - 

unimpaired 
loans  

ECL during the 
whole period - 
impaired loans 

 

Total 

        
As at December 31, 2021 5,685  635  2,489  8,809 
        
Movement to 1st Stage 340  (339)  (1)  - 
Movement to 2nd Stage (2,412)  2,412  -  - 
Movement to 3rd Stage (3,021)  (615)  3,636  - 
        
Accrual/(Recovery) 6,975  (1,470)  (1,934)  3,571 
Recovery of previously written-off 
loans -  -  1,298  1,298 
Write off -  -  (2,713)  (2,713) 
        
As at December 31, 2022 7,567  623  2,775  10,965 
        
Movement to 1st Stage 75  (75)  -  - 
Movement to 2nd Stage (3,153)  3,199  (46)  - 
Movement to 3rd Stage -  (2,277)  2,277  - 
        
Accrual/(Recovery) 10,705  132  1,784  12,621 
Recovery of previously written-off 
loans -  -  938  938 
Write off -  -  (1,518)  (1,518) 
        
As at December 31, 2023 15,194  1,602  6,210  23,006 
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Information on the quality of loans to customers as at December 31, 2023 is provided below: 

 
Gross loans 

 Impairment 
allowance 

 
Net loans 

 Impairment 
allowance to 

gross loans, % 
        
Not overdue 1,156,964  (14,222)  1,142,742  1% 
Overdue less than 30 days 5,640  (978)  4,662  17% 
Overdue for period from 31 to 90 days 2,419  (1,596)  823  66% 
Overdue for period from 91 to 180 
days 3,163  (2,491)  672  79% 
Overdue for period from 181 to 360 
days 2,481  (1,947)  534  78% 
Overdue more than 360 days 1,899  (1,772)  127  93% 
        
 1,172,566  (23,006)  1,149,560   

 

Information on the quality of loans to customers as at December 31, 2022 is provided below: 

 
Gross loans 

 Impairment 
allowance 

 
Net loans 

 Impairment 
allowance to 

gross loans, % 
        
Not overdue 858,634  (6,993)  851,641  1% 
Overdue less than 30 days 3,391  (597)  2,794  18% 
Overdue for period from 31 to 90 days 1,197  (600)  597  50% 
Overdue for period from 91 to 180 
days 1,288  (1,024)  264  80% 
Overdue for period from 181 to 360 
days 1,265  (991)  274  78% 
Overdue more than 360 days 825  (760)  65  92% 
        
 866,600  (10,965)  855,635   

 

20. ISLAMIC FINANCE RECEIVABLES 

On February 3, 2020, the Company received a license from the National Bank of Tajikistan to carry out 
banking operations based on the principles, norms and rules of Sharia in the form of an “Islamic 
window”. 

The main product of the Company's financing is Consumer Murabaha. Murabaha is a transaction for the 
sale of goods purchased by the Company at the request of a client. The Company purchases the 
claimed product for the Client and sells it at a premium on a deferred payment basis. The sales price of 
the goods to the client is determined as the sum of the purchase price, taking into account direct costs 
plus the trade margin. 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 receivables under the Murabaha agreement are 
presented as follows: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Murabaha 16,070  7,552 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (450)  (203) 
    
 15,620  7,349 
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Concentration of receivables under Murabaha agreements 

Accounts receivable arise under the Murabaha agreements in the Republic of Tajikistan in the following 
sectors: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
Sector analysis    
Consumer sector 16,070  7,552 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (450)  (203) 
    
 15,620  7,349 

 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
Analysis by type of collateral    
Products 16,070  7,552 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses (450)  (203) 
     15,620  7,349 

21. LONG-TERM ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 long-term assets held for sale of the Company 
consisted of the following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Apartments 232  343 
    
Less allowance for impairment losses (87)  (105) 
    
 145  238 

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses is disclosed in Note 11. 

22. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 property and equipment of the Company consisted of 
the following: 

 

Buildings and 
constructions 

 Computer 
and 

equipment 

 Vehicles  Furniture 
and fixtures 

 

Improvement 
of leased 
property  

Total 

At cost            
December 31, 2021 12,334  20,559  829  2,749  208  36,679 
            
Additions -  9,022  295  608  257  10,182 
Transfer from 
inventory -  -  -  -  220  220 
Disposal -  (37)  (65)  (35)  (30)  (167) 
            
December 31, 2022 12,334  29,544  1,059  3,322  655  46,914 
            
Additions -  11,825  624  2,560  52  15,061 
Transfer from 
inventory -  -  -  -  140  140 
Disposal -  (2,602)  (88)  (6)  -  (2,696) 
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December 31, 2023 12,334  38,767  1,595  5,876  847  59,419 
            
Accumulated 
depreciation            
December 31, 2021 1,747  11,253  467  1,447  13  14,927 
            
Charge for the year 247  3,483  203  637  287  4,857 
Disposal -  (27)  (30)  (12)  (30)  (99) 
            
December 31, 2022 1,994  14,709  640  2,072  270  19,685 
            
Charge for the year 247  6,099  -  57  458  6,861 
Disposal -  (771)  (88)  (6)  -  (865) 
            
December 31, 2023 2,241  20,037  552  2,123  728  25,681 
            
Net book value            
As at December 31, 
2022 10,340  14,835  419  1,250  385  27,229 
As at December 31, 
2023 10,093  18,730  1,043  3,753  119  33,738 

 

In November 2021, the Company involved an independent appraiser to re-evaluate the building, and 
revaluation was performed as at December 31, 2021. 

 Before revaluation 
Balance value 

After revaluation 
Fair value 

Excessive cost 

Building 7,518 10,778 3,260 

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the value of fully depreciated property and 
equipment was 9,161 thousand somoni and 5,679 thousand somoni, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 there were no fixed assets pledged as collateral for 
loans received. 

 

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 intangible assets are presented as follows: 

 
Intangible  

assets 
At cost  
December 31, 2021 5,688 
  
Additions 4,303 
  
December 31, 2022 9,991 
  
Additions 1,518 
  
December 31, 2023 11,509 
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Accumulated amortization  
December 31, 2021 2,794 
  
Charge for the year 954 
  
December 31, 2022 3,748 
  
Charge for the year 1,714 
  
December 31, 2023 5,462 
  
Net book value  
As at December 31, 2022 6,243 
As at December 31, 2023 6,047 

 

24. LEASES 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 right of use assets and lease liabilities of the 
Company consisted of the following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Right of use assets    
Buildings 11,359  6,152 
    
 11,359  6,152 

 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
Lease liabilities    
Current 5,439  4,293 
Non-current 6,839  1,909 
    
 12,278  6,202 

 

 
For the year  

ended  
December 31, 

2023  

For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

    
Accumulated amortization of right-of-use assets    
Buildings 20,253  14,975 
    
 20,253  14,975 
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Right-of-use 

assets 
 Lease liabilities 

    
January 1, 2022 3,697  3,708 
    
Additions 7,914  7,914 
Amortization of right-of-use assets (5,459)  - 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities -  897 
Payments -  (6,317) 
    
December 31, 2022 6,152  6,202 
    
Additions 10,485  10,485 
Amortization of right-of-use assets (5,278)  - 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities -  2,164 
Payments -  (6,573) 
    
December 31, 2023 11,359  12,278 

 

25. OTHER ASSETS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 other assets of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Other financial assets    
Accounts receivable 46,890  19,860 
Cash restricted for use 4,931  14,385 
Investments 120  95 
    
Less allowance for expected credit losses on other financial assets (2,005)  (1,232) 
    
Total other financial assets 49,936  33,108 
    
Other non-financial assets    
Taxes paid in advance 6,943  135 
Prepaid expenses 5,776  4,817 
Low value items 3,090  533 
Cash shortage 241  210 
Current income tax prepayments -  2 
    
Less allowance for other non-financial assets (241)  (210) 
    
Total other non- financial assets 15,809  5,487 
    
 65,745  38,595 

 

Investments represent the shares of LLC “Bureau of Credit Information of Tajikistan”, the share of which 
As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 is 2.79%. 

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses is disclosed in Note 11. 
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The most significant debtors of the Company are as follows: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
PAO "Sberbank of Russia" 18,867  3,016 
Korti milli 6,927  2,222 
"Center Credit" Bank 1,723  897 
JSC "Tinkof Bank" 1,396  119 
SSB "Amonatbonk" 1,315  243 

 

26. DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 due to banks and financial institutions of the 
Company consisted of the correspondent accounts of followings organizations: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
MLF “Nuri Humo” 7,328  17,644 
MDO “Furuz” 245  530 
MDO “Finca” -  159 
Other 1,095  532 
    
 8,668  18,865 

 

27. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 customer accounts of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Time deposits 270,957  202,485 
Current accounts and demand deposits 61,367  22,840 
Saving deposits 40,216  32,768 
Wakalah investment 3,271  - 
Mudarabah investment 3,241  2,639 
Accrued interest payable 5,101  3,939 
    
 384,153  264,671 

 

28. BORROWINGS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 borrowings of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    
Loans received 812,784  462,674 
Accrued interest payable 24,642  10,938 
Unamortized portion of front-end commission on borrowing (6,239)  (3,750) 
    
 831,187  469,862 
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As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 loans received from banks and financial institutions of 
the Company comprise of the following: 

Creditor Currency 
 

Maturity date 
 

December 
31, 2023  

December 
31, 2022   

      
Hansainvest Tajik somoni  12 June 2025  43,652  - 
Frankfurt School Financial Services Tajik somoni  14 March 2025  34,874  - 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund    Tajik somoni  14 September 2026  32,884  - 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund    Tajik somoni  17 July 2026  32,766  - 
World Bank Tajik somoni  26 May 2027  32,621  32,621 
KIVA Tajik somoni  31 October 2026  25,282  19,957 
Ministry of Economic Development and 
Trade of RT (KFW) Tajik somoni  21 January 2030  23,085  1,942 
EMF Microfinance Fund Tajik somoni  27 March 2026  21,922  - 
Microfinance Initiative for Asia (MIFA) US Dollars  14 April 2025  21,914  - 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund    Tajik somoni  05 June 2026  21,903  - 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund    Tajik somoni  28 March 2025  21,827  - 
SSB RT "Amonatbonk" Tajik somoni  22 September 2024  20,000  20,000 
GRAMEEN CREDIT AGRICOLE Tajik somoni  15 October 2026  18,551  - 
Triodos Euro  15 September 2025  16,924  15,240 
Aequitas Fund Tajik somoni  30 May 2025  15,310  - 
SSB RT "Amonatbonk" Tajik somoni  17 February 2025  15,000  - 
MCF “Refinancing fund” Tajik somoni  10 January 2024  15,000  - 
Triodos Tajik somoni  18 November 2024  14,543  14,543 
DWM INCOME FUNDS S.C.A US Dollars  13 September 2024  13,696  12,753 
DWM INCOME FUNDS S.C.A Tajik somoni  13 September 2024  12,796  12,796 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  30 November 2026  12,322  - 
DWM INCOME FUNDS S.C.A Euro  26 September 2025  12,094  - 
Avtiam Financial Inclusion Fund Euro  17 February 2025  12,094  10,891 
Avtiam Financial Inclusion Fund Euro  17 February 2025  12,094  10,891 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  27 May 2024  11,323  11,323 
Luxembourg Microfinance and 
Development Fund Tajik somoni  10 January 2024  11,300  11,300 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  25 September 2026  10,961  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  23 August 2026  10,960  - 
EMF Microfinance Fund Tajik somoni  15 June 2026  10,957  - 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  30 November 2026  10,953  - 
DWM INCOME FUNDS S.C.A Euro  13 October 2025  10,885  - 
MCF “Refinancing fund” Tajik somoni  11 November 2025  10,640  13,300 
Luxembourg Microfinance and 
Development Fund Euro  10 January 2024  10,522  9,475 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  10 February 2026  10,336  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  17 January 2025  10,241  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  01 May 2025  10,207  10,207 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  23 June 2025  9,710  16,184 
DWM INCOME FUNDS S.C.A Euro  27 May 2025  9,676  - 
Triodos Tajik somoni  06 March 2025  9,438  9,438 
Triodos Tajik somoni  06 March 2025  9,438  9,438 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  27 October 2025  8,172  10,216 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  09 February 2026  7,742  - 
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Creditor Currency  Maturity date  December 
31, 2023 

 December 
31, 2022 

Frankfurt School Financial Services US Dollars  15 September 2024  7,305  10,202 
Aequitas Fund Tajik somoni  30 May 2025  6,530  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  25 February 2024  5,652  5,652 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  29 August 2026  5,481  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  15 August 2026  5,471  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  15 May 2026  5,471  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  15 May 2026  5,460  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  15 May 2026  5,460  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  16 May 2026  5,457  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  16 May 2026  5,457  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  16 May 2026  5,457  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  17 January 2025  5,120  - 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  28 November 2024  5,105  5,105 
SUE "Sanoatsodirotbonk" Tajik somoni  30 August 2024  5,000  - 
World Bank Tajik somoni  31 May 2024  4,548  8,275 
BlueOrchard Pool Microfinance Tajik somoni  14 April 2024  4,301  12,650 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund    Tajik somoni  14 April 2024  4,301  12,650 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Tajik somoni  30 November 2026  4,109  - 
MCF “Refinancing fund” Tajik somoni  11 November 2025  4,068  - 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund    Tajik somoni  16 January 2024  3,845  11,310 
Hansainvest US Dollars  09 April 2024  3,652  10,202 
Hansainvest US Dollars  09 April 2024  3,652  10,202 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development US Dollars  23 June 2025  3,287  5,101 
European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development US Dollars  09 February 2026  2,739  - 
Lendahand US Dollars  01 June 2025  2,341  - 
GRAMEEN CREDIT AGRICOLE Tajik somoni  15 June 2024  2,062  6,187 
MCF “Refinancing fund” Tajik somoni  11 November 2025  1,915  - 
Lendahand US Dollars  01 November 2025  1,744  - 
GRAMEEN CREDIT AGRICOLE Tajik somoni  15 June 2024  1,139  3,413 
World Bank Tajik somoni  26 April 2024  40  3,234 
Triple Jump B.V. Tajik somoni  15 September 2023  -  20,372 
Triple Jump B.V. Tajik somoni  15 December 2023  -  20,336 
Hansainvest US Dollars  07 December 2023  -  13,603 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  09 July 2023  -  11,322 
National Bank of Tajikistan Tajik somoni  26 January 2023  -  9,500 
Hansainvest US Dollars  07 December 2023  -  6,803 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  24 June 2023  -  5,660 
Frankfurt School Financial Services US Dollars  05 May 2023  -  3,401 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  01 April 2023  -  2,828 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  01 April 2023  -  2,828 
Symbiotics Sicav (Lux) Tajik somoni  25 February 2023  -  2,826 
IFC Tajik somoni  27 December 2023  -  2,777 
IFC Tajik somoni  27 December 2023  -  2,768 
MICROWORLD US Dollars  14 January 2031  -  952 
     812,784  462,674 
        
Accrued interest payable     24,642  10,938 
Unamortized portion of front-end 
commission on borrowing     (6,239)  (3,750) 
        
     831,187  469,862 
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29. SUBORDINATED LOANS 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 subordinated loans of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

Creditor Currency 
 

Maturity date 
 

December 31,  
2023 

 December 31,  
2022 

        
MCE SOCIAL CAPITAL US Dollars  31 January 2025  10,957  10,202 
GRAMEEN CREDIT AGRICOLE 
MICROFINANCE FOUNDATION US Dollars  15 June 2024  10,957  10,202 
Symbiotics Global Impact Investments Sarl US Dollars  28 August 2026  5,479  5,102 
Symbiotics Sicav l l ABN AMRO Impact 
Fund US Dollars  19 August 2026  5,479  5,102 
BlueOrchard Miсrofinance Fund US Dollars  06 June 2023  -  10,202 
GRAMEEN CREDIT AGRICOLE 
MICROFINANCE FOUNDATION US Dollars  15 December 2023  -  10,202 
        
Accrued interest payable     391  485 
Unamortized portion of front-end 
commission on subordinated loans     (88)  (161) 
        
     33,175  51,336 

In 2018 the Company, within the framework of the loan agreement dated November 29, 2017, attracted 
a subordinated loan from BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund. The loan term is 5 years. In 2018 the 
Company, within the framework of the loan agreement dated October 2, 2018, attracted a subordinated 
loan from Grameen Credit Agricole Microfinance Foundation. The loan term is 5 years. In 2019, the 
Company, within the framework of the loan agreement dated April 11, 2019, attracted a subordinated 
loan from Grameen Credit Agricole Microfinance Foundation. The loan term is 5 years. In 2019, the 
Company, within the framework of the loan agreement dated December 19, 2019, attracted a 
subordinated loan from MCE Social Capital. The loan term is 5 years. 

In 2021, the Company, under loan agreements dated August 18 and August 27, 2021, attracted 
subordinated loans from Symbiotics Global Impact Investments Sarl with maturities of 5 years. In case of 
bankruptcy or liquidation of the Company, repayment of these loans is made after the fulfillment of the 
Company's obligations to all other creditors. 

Movement of liabilities from financing activities 

The table below shows changes in the Company’s borrowings and subordinated loans from financing 
activities, including changes involving cash and non-cash. These are debts where the money 
movements were, or will be, shown as financing activities in the Company’s cash flow statement. 

  Borrowings 
 

Subordinated debt 
     

January 01, 2022  426,647  73,634 
     

Financing cash flows  48,580  (16,867) 
     
Foreign exchange movements  (8,863)  (5,488) 
Changes in accrued interest                        3,498   57 
     
December 31, 2022  469,862  51,336 

     
Financing cash flows  335,396  (21,804) 
     
Foreign exchange movements  12,225  3,737 
Changes in accrued interest                      13,704   (94) 
     
December 31, 2023  831,187  33,175 
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30. OTHER LIABILITIES 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 other liabilities of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    Other financial liabilities    
Accounts payable 38,035  28,680 
Unused vacation provision 5,599  4,046 
Salary payable 3,586  2,977 
Provision for bonuses 1,287  2,460 
Obligations to the client for the received pledge for sale 114  238 
Other 467  231 
    Total other financial liabilities 49,088  38,632 
    Other non-financial liabilities    
Other taxes payable 5,225  4,916 
Income tax liabilities 1,893  11,281 
Grants received 370  220 
    Total other non-financial liabilities 7,488  16,417 
    
 56,576  55,049 

On April 13, 2022, Company entered into a bilateral agreement with DAI Global, LLC. Based on this 
agreement, the Company received a grant of 59 thousand US dollars. The funds received from the grant 
were used for the purchase of POS terminals. 

The Company's most significant creditors are as follows: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
    CJSC TT Mobile 20,461  12,007 
Users of Humo Online 2,894  2,876 
Alif Bank OJSC 2,097  1,019 
Toj Turon LLC 1,269  1,269 

Movement in provision for unused vacation for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022 was as follows: 

 2023  2022 
    as at January 1 4,046  2,383 
    Used vacations (4,315)  (3,295) 
Accrual 5,868  4,958 
    as at December 31 5,599  4,046 

31. SHARE CAPITAL 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 share capital of the Company consisted of the 
following: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 Share  December 31,  

2022  
Share 

        Gojo & Company, Inc 96,030  97%  71,592  83.7% 
Individuals 2,972  3%  2,972  3.5% 
Desjardins Fund for Inclusive Finance, LP -  0%  11,014  12.9% 
         99,002  100%  85,578  100% 
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In 2022, the Company issued 7,700 ordinary shares with a nominal value of 1,000 somoni each and for 
a total amount of 7,700 thousand somoni, which were registered on February 15, 2022 by the Ministry of 
Finance of the Republic of Tajikistan. All 7,700 shares were purchased by the major shareholder Gojo & 
Company, Inc. for 33,925 thousand somoni and an excess of the nominal value in the amount of 26,225 
thousand somoni is recognized as additional paid-in capital. 

Based on the minutes of the general meeting of shareholders dated April 27, 2022, the Company 
declared dividends in the amount of 68,587 thousand somoni, which were distributed as follows: to 
increase share capital through an additional paid-in capital in the amount of 27,767 thousand somoni, to 
increase share capital through retained earnings in the amount of 32,589 thousand somoni, and for 
payment of tax on dividends 8,231 thousand somoni. 

In 2023, the Company issued 13,424 ordinary shares with a nominal value of 1,000 somoni each and for 
a total amount of 13,424 thousand somoni, which were registered on April 07, 2023 by the Ministry of 
Finance of the Republic of Tajikistan. All 13,424 shares were purchased by the major shareholder Gojo 
& Company, Inc. for 30,902 thousand somoni and an excess of the nominal value in the amount of 
17,478 thousand somoni is recognized as additional paid-in capital. 

Based on the minutes of the general meeting of shareholders dated May 30, 2023, the Company 
declared dividends of a 20% of last year profit in the amount of 14,250 thousand somoni, which were 
distributed as follows: to pay withholding tax on dividends of 12% in the amount of 1,710 thousand 
somoni and to pay dividends to shareholders, after withholding tax, in the amount of 12,540 thousand 
somoni. 

 

  



45 

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Capital expenditure commitments 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the Company had no capital expenditure 
commitments. 

Loan related commitments, guarantees and other financial contracts 

In the normal course of business, the Company provides its customers a variety of financial instruments 
that are accounted on off-balance sheet accounts and have different degrees of risk. As at December 
31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the Company did not have such obligations. 

Legal proceedings 

From time to time in the Company's customers and counterparties claim against the Company and the 
Company claims against customers. As at the reporting date the Company was not involved in legal 
proceedings which could lead to changes in the financial statements. 

Taxation 

Tax legislation of the Republic of Tajikistan may allow more than one interpretation. In addition, there is 
a risk of tax authorities making arbitrary judgments of business activities. Management of the Company 
believes that it has accrued all tax amounts due and therefore no allowance has been made in the 
financial statements. 

Economic environment 

The Company’s principal business activities are within the Republic of Tajikistan. Laws and regulations 
affecting the business environment in the Republic of Tajikistan are subject to rapid changes and the 
Company’s assets and operations could be at risk due to negative changes in the business environment. 

Operating environment 

Emerging market of the Republic of Tajikistan is subject to more risks than developed markets, including 
economic and social, and legal and legislative risks. As has happened in the past, actual or perceived 
financial problems or an increase in the perceived risks associated with investing in emerging economies 
could adversely affect the investment climate in countries and the countries’ economy in general. 

Laws and regulations affecting businesses in the Republic of Tajikistan continue to change rapidly. Tax, 
currency and customs legislation within the country are subject to varying interpretations, and other legal 
and fiscal difficulties leading to the challenges faced by the Company. The future economic direction of 
the Republic of Tajikistan is largely dependent on economic, fiscal and monetary measures undertaken 
by the Government, together with legal, regulatory developments. 

These financial statements do not include any adjustments that would have been required due resolution 
of the uncertainty in the future. Possible adjustments may be made to the statements in that period in 
which necessity of their reflection will become evident, and it will be possible to estimate their numerical 
values. 
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33. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, and not merely the legal form. In the statement of financial position as at December 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022 the following amounts were represented which arose due to transactions 
with related parties: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 

 

Related party 
transactions 

Total category 
as per the 
financial 

statements 
caption  

Related party 
transactions 

Total category 
as per the 
financial 

statements 
caption 

Loans to customers 231 1,149,560  73 855,635 
Customer accounts 879 384,153  382 264,671 

 

In the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022 the following amounts were represented which arose due to transactions 
with related parties: 

 

For the year  
ended  

December 31, 
2023 

 For the year  
ended  

December 31,  
2022 

 

Related party 
transactions 

Total category 
as per the 
financial 

statements 
caption 

 Related party 
transactions 

Total category 
as per the 
financial 

statements 
caption 

Interest income 70 377,812  6 254,633 
Interest expenses 144 145,559  5 94,793 
Operating expenses:      
Compensation to key management 
personnel 5,471 142,446  3,619 110,695 
Contributions to the social fund 1,094 142,446  724 110,695 
Professional services 293 142,446  292 110,695 

 

Transactions with related parties are presented as follows: 

  
ASSETS: Relation 
Loans to clients Key Personnel of the Company 
LIABILITIES:  
Customer accounts Key Personnel of the Company 
  Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
Interest income Key Personnel of the Company 
Interest expenses Key Personnel of the Company 
Operating expenses Key Personnel of the Company 

34. PRUDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS 

In order to ensure capital adequacy in accordance with established quantitative measures the Company 
is required to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of regulated capital to total assets weighted in view 
of risk (12%), ratio of regulated capital to total assets (10%) and ratio of Tier 1 capital to Risk weighted 
assets (8%). 
 
The ratio was calculated according to the principles employed by the National Bank of Tajikistan which 
may differ from Basel Committee principles by applying the following risk estimates to the assets and off-
balance sheet commitments net of allowances for impairment losses. 
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And the actual amounts of the Company’s capital ratios are as follows: 

 
December 31,  

2023 
 December 31,  

2022 
Composition of regulatory capital:    
Movement in Tier 1 Capital    
Shareholders’ equity 189,048  108,055 
Less net book value of intangible assets (5,897)  (6,243) 
    
Total Tier 1 capital 183,151  101,812 
    
Tier 2 capital:    
Net profit for the year 34,866  33,065 
Revaluation of property and equipment reserve 2,451  2,603 
General reserves 10,364  4,087 
Subordinated loans 6,574  12,243 
    
Total Tier 2 capital 54,255  51,998 
    
Total regulatory capital 237,406  153,810 
    
Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 1,431,331  1,002,559 
    
Total assets 1,622,176  1,077,386 

 

 

Ratio for Capital 
Adequacy 
purposes 

 Minimum 
Required Ratio 

    
As at December 31, 2023    
Capital adequacy ratio K1.1 16.59%  12% 
Capital adequacy ratio K1.2 14.64%  10% 
Capital adequacy ratio K1.3 12.8%  8% 
    
As at December 31, 2022    
Capital adequacy ratio K1.1 15.34%  12% 
Capital adequacy ratio K1.2 14.28%  10% 

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue on a going 
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity 
balance. 

The capital structure of the Company consists of debt and equity of shareholders, which includes issued 
capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity. 

The Management Board reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the 
Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the Board, the Company balances its overall capital structure through capitalization 
of retained earnings, attraction of additional debts or the redemption of existing debt. 

36. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES 

Management of risk is fundamental in Company’s business. The main risks inherent to the Company’s 
operations are those related to: 

• Credit exposures; 
• Operational risk 
• Liquidity risk; 
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• Market risk. 

The Company recognizes that it is essential to have efficient and effective risk management processes 
in place. To enable this, the Company has established a risk management framework, whose main 
purpose is to protect the Company from risk and allow it to achieve its planned objectives. These 
principles are used by the Company to manage the following risks: 

Credit risk 

The Company is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to 
discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. 

Risk management and monitoring is performed within set limits of authority. These processes are 
performed by the Credit Committees and the Company’s Management Board. Before any application is 
made by the Credit Committee, all recommendations on credit processes (borrower’s limits approved, or 
amendments made to loan agreements, etc.) are reviewed and approved by the Management. Daily risk 
management is performed by the risk management, assets and liabilities committee and economics 
department. 

The Company has developed policies and procedures to manage credit risk, which includes limiting 
portfolio concentration and the creation of the Credit Committee, which monitors the credit risk. The 
Company’s credit policy is reviewed and approved by Board of Directors. The Company structures the 
levels of credit risk by setting limits to the size of the risk taken in relation to one borrower or group of 
borrowers, as well as by sector of economy. Monitoring of the actual risks in relation to the established 
limits is conducted on daily basis. 

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet obligations related to payment of interest and principal amount, and by changing 
these lending limits when such necessity is arisen. Exposure to credit risk is also regulated by obtaining 
collateral and guarantees. Such risks are monitored on a permanent basis and subject to quarterly or 
more frequent reviews. 

Definition of default 
 
Default is the recognition by the Company the fact that the counterparty has fully or partially failed to 
fulfill its financial obligations to the Company. 
 
A default occurs no later than the moment when a financial asset is delayed by 90 days, unless the 
Company has reasonable and corroborated information demonstrating that the use of the default 
criterion with longer delay days is more appropriate. The definition of default used for this purpose is 
applied consistently to all financial instruments, except when information becomes available that 
demonstrates a different definition of default is more appropriate for a particular financial instrument. 
 
The Company recognizes the default of the counterparty if either of the following criteria is met or both: 
 
Qualitative criteria – the Company has reasonable basis to believe that the counterparty is unlikely to 
fulfill its obligations to the Company in full amount without use of such measures as sale of collateral (if 
available). 
 
Quantitative criteria - the counterparty has overdue obligations to the Company with a delay of more than 
90 calendar days. 
 
Qualitative criteria for recognition of default 
 
Qualitative criteria for default recognition include an analysis of indicators of financial stability, liquidity 
and profitability, as well as liquidity of collateral, which is used to determine the creditworthiness of the 
counterparty. 
 
The most significant criteria characterizing the financial condition of the counterparty are indicators of the 
stability of financial flows, the sufficiency of own funds and the level of debt or liabilities. 
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Qualitative assessment should be supplemented with the monitoring of credit operations, as well as 
control over the issuance of loans. 
 
The following events can be a basis for recognizing default: 
1. Failure to comply with the terms of the contract. 
 
The counterparty did not fulfill the terms of the contract (for example, covenants), as a result of which the 
Company acknowledged the counterparty's default on the contract (according to the terms of the 
contract) and demanded early repayment of the debt. 
 
This criterion is applied if the counterparty did not fulfill the Company’s requirement for early repayment 
of the debt in full and in a timely manner. 
 
The date of default in this case is the date of first overdue day on the debt requested for early 
repayment. 
 
2. Restructuring of the claim 
 
The Company decided to restructure its claims due to the financial difficulties of the counterparty, 
including a significant reduction in the volume of payments on principal amount, interest or commissions 
and / or a significant delay in their payment. 
 
The date of default is the date of the restructuring decision (the first restructuring, if there were several 
cases). 
 
3. Bankruptcy of the counterparty 
 
• The counterparty or the Company has filed a lawsuit to declare the counterparty bankrupt; or 
• The counterparty is declared bankrupt; or 
• Bankruptcy procedures were introduced with respect to the counterparty, or the counterparty received 
a similar protection, which allows to avoid or delay the repayment of the Company's claims. 
 
4. Other events 
 
In the case of revealing direct or indirect evidence of a high probability of negative events, recognition of 
default can be based on appropriate professional judgment. 
 
In forming a professional judgment, the following facts should be taken into account: 
 
• payments of debts to the Company or other creditors are delayed (delay of principal, interest, 
commissions and other payments); 
• the Company has accrued an allowance or performed a negative revaluation on its claims due to the 
expected significant decrease in credit quality; 
• loans and/or other financial assets were sold (transferred) by the Company with an economic loss; 
• loans and/or other financial assets were restructured on unfavorable conditions for the Company; 
• there were significant negative changes in the financial and economic activities of the counterparty; 
• the fact of fraud on the part of the counterparty (in relation to the Company or third parties) was 
detected and confirmed. 
 

The date of default in this case is the date of the formation of the relevant professional judgment. 
 

Quantitative criteria for the recognition of default 
 

The counterparty has overdue payments to the Company with a delay of more than 90 calendar days 
(unless the Company has reasonable and corroborated information demonstrating that the use of a 
longer than 90 days period is more appropriate). 
 

Significant increase in credit risk 
 
The management of the Company applies judgment to estimate a significant increase in credit risk, 
which is a critical element in estimating expected credit losses. The following factors are taken into 
account by the Company when assessing a possible significant increase in credit risk:  
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• Continuous delays on payments by counterparty more than 30 calendar days; 
• Loan restructuring due to the inability to maintain loans and/or other financial assets on current 

terms; 
• The use of significant interventions by the Company to reduce credit risks, such as direct control 

(management) of operating activities of the counterparty; 
• The Company projects that over the next 12 months the counterparty will have substantially 

insufficient cash for repayment the loan on current terms; 
• Actual or expected significant negative change in the external credit rating of a financial 

instrument; 
• Existing or projected adverse changes in commercial, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to significantly alter the borrower's ability to meet its debt obligations; 
• Significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower; 
• Granting a grace period for the loan payment; 
• Availability of information on the involvement of the counterparty in litigation, which may worsen 

its financial condition. 
 
Credit risk is low for financial instruments if: 
 
1. The risk of a default on a financial asset / liability is low; 
 
2. The borrower has a substantial margin of safety in order to fulfill his/her obligations to pay the 
contractual payments in the near future; and 
 
3. Adverse changes in the economic conditions for conducting business in the longer term may lead, but 
not necessarily will lead to a decrease in the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations. 
 
As part of its activities, the Company excludes an increase in credit risk on government bonds 
denominated in national currency, as well as balances in financial institutions with a high credit rating. 
 
Initial data for estimating expected credit losses (ECL) 
 
The main initial data for estimating expected credit losses are temporary structures of the following 
variables: 
- probability of default (PD); 
- the level of loss given default (LGD); and 
- amount of credit exposure at default (EAD). 
 
These indicators are derived from internal statistical models and other historical data. They are also 
adjusted for macroeconomic trends in order to reflect the forecast information. 
 
As part of the assessment of expected credit losses, it was decided to divide the total portfolio into the 
following groups: legal entities (corporate borrowers, small and medium businesses, excluding banks), 
individuals, financial organizations, securities and contingent liabilities (guarantees, letters of credit, 
credit lines). This separation was made due to both economic substance and the availability of necessary 
information for modeling. 
 
Estimated probability of default (PD) is calculated as at a specific date and based on: 

• migration matrix models for consumer loans, SME loans, mortgage loans and multi-purpose 
loans; 

• shadow rating models for financial organizations and securities where the emitter is a financial 
organization. 

 
Migration matrix model for loans estimated on a group basis. 
 
The probability of default of the retail loan portfolio and the SME portfolio is calculated on a group basis. 
The methodology can be divided into a number of stages: 
 
1. At the first stage, data are generated for each customer as part of the retail loan portfolio and the SME 
portfolio, in the context of each loan product of the Company. 
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2. At the second stage, the calculation of the probability of default for a group of loans that belong to the 
same credit product. 
3. Then, the previously calculated probability of default (1 year PD) is used to calculate the adjustment 
considering macroeconomic forecasts. 
4. Based on the calculated and previously adjusted macroeconomic forecasts of the probability of default 
for a group of loans evaluated on a collective basis, the probability of default of the loan is calculated for 
the entire lifetime of its PD. 
5. Calculation of the value of LGD - losses in case of default, determined for a particular customer, for 
which the allowance is calculated, depending on the term of the overdue debt. 
 
As part of this analysis, within retail portfolio were allocated 3 groups of loan products, with the approval 
of Management of the Company, namely: loan "Business micro", consumer loans, loans for agro-micro. 
The SME portfolio in the calculation of expected credit losses was divided into two subgroups: loans to 
small and medium businesses and loans for micro business development. 
 
The calculation of expected credit losses is based on the use of Markov chains in predicting the 
probability of default. The method is based on the ability to simulate the dynamic condition of the system 
during its operation. Based on the possible probabilities of the implementation of a particular 
development scenario of the economic process, it is possible to predict the future condition of the 
economic system over a given forecasting horizon. 
 
The shadow rating model for assessing the probability of default of a financial institution. 
 
This model has common rules with the shadow rating model for assessing the probability of default of a 
non-financial organization. 
 
The Company used following criteria for sample selection: 
 
1. Commercial entities of the following countries were analyzed (countries of the former Soviet Union, 
except for the Baltic states and Turkmenistan): Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Ukraine, Ukraine, 
Belorussia, Armenia, Georgia, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan. 
2. Only companies which possess long-term external credit rating of one (or several) world leading rating 
agencies – S&P, Moody’s or Fitch – were included in the sample. Only international scale ratings were 
taken into account. In the case of several credit ratings, for the purposes of this model, their maximum 
value was used. 
3. If the credit rating was assigned before December 2016, the company was not added to the sample 
due to the irrelevance of the financial indicators for 2016-2017. 
4. The sample included only those banks that placed the full version of their IFRS reporting (including 
interim financial statements) for 2016 and 2017 years on publicly available resources. 
5. The sample included only those banks that provide information about their shareholders (controlling 
parties). 
6. The sample included only those banks that provide information about capital adequacy for 2016 and 
2017 years (including the dates of the interim financial statements) 
 
Based on the results of the above algorithm application, a sample of 122 banks was compiled. 
 
The selection of regression indicators was carried out step by step in accordance with the following 
criteria: 
 
1. assessment of the statistical significance of the independent explanatory factor of regression; 
2. assessment of the compliance of the sign of the coefficient factor in the model with its logical meaning. 
 
The final model used the following independent variables: 
 
1. sovereign rating of the country in which bank operates; 
2. membership of bank in an international banking group; 
3. state ownership; 
4. ratio of loan loss allowance to the total loan portfolio; 
5. return on assets; 
6. the difference between total capital adequacy and its regulatory value. 
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The level of loss given default (LGD) is the level of losses from the total amount of debt at the time of a 
default event. This is an indicator of the actual losses that the Company will incur shall the client default. 
When calculating expected credit losses, the Company may apply one of three methods: 
 
• Economic LGD is calculated on the basis of cash flows received as a result of the process of working 
with overdue debts (the volume of unreceived cashflows). In the framework of the economic LGD 
method, the level of losses from the amount of debt at the time of default is determined as discounted 
proceeds from the sale of the pledged property less selling expenses. Application of this method is 
limited to corporate and institutional borrowers. 
 
• Statistical LGD is calculated on the basis of analysis of historical LGD data and instrument 
characteristics. The statistical method is based on statistical processing of data on the level of debt 
collection based on information from financial institutions on borrower defaults and penalties. Calculation 
of statistical LGD depending on the type of chosen collateral, namely group guarantee, movable 
property, real estate, mixed collateral, guarantee, jewelry, unsecured, deposit. The effective interest rate 
of the loan was used as discount rate. Applicable for all types of loans. 
 
• Market LGD is calculated on the basis of market prices for similar bonds/loans not in default status. 
Market LGD is estimated based on open historical data and bank researches. This approach does not 
take into account the peculiarities of the national economy and its application is mainly justified in case if 
the available data for calculating of economic and statistical LGDs is insufficient. Application is limited to 
corporate and institutional borrowers. 
 
The value of the credit exposure at default (EAD) is the expected value of total claims of the Company at 
risk on the date of default. This indicator is calculated by the Company for loans as the sum of the 
remaining debt and accrued interest; for unconditional credit lines as the sum of the full credit limit and 
accumulated interest; for conditional credit lines EAD is used as the amount of the issued loan amount 
and accrued interest; for guarantees as the sum of the issued guarantee payment. 
 
In the framework of its activities, the Company separates the following groups: consumer loans, 
mortgage loans, loans to small and medium businesses and corporate loans. Groups are subject to 
regular checks to ensure that credit risk exposures within a certain group has similar credit risk 
characteristics.  
 
Forecast information 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company included forecast information both in its assessment of a 
significant increase of credit risk since the initial recognition and in the assessment of expected credit 
losses. 
 
The Company uses professional judgment to evaluate forecast information. This estimate is also based 
on information obtained from external sources. External information may include economic data and 
forecasts published by government agencies and monetary policy regulation authorities of countries in 
which the Company operates, such as the NBT, as well as some external sources in relation to the 
country, such as the Trading Economics, as well as individual and scientific forecasts. 
 
The Company identified and documented a list of the main factors affecting the assessment of credit risk 
and credit losses related to the financial instruments of the Company and using the analysis of historical 
data assessed the relationship between macroeconomic variables and credit risks. The key factors 
identified include growth forecast of exchange rate USD/TJS and key rates based on the consensus of 
basic and conservative predictions. 

Correlations between the key macroeconomic indicators and the events of default were developed 
based on analysis of historical data for the last 6 years. 

Assessment of macroeconomic data was performed using a multivariate linear regression. The following 
indicators were tested as independent variables: 

• GDP and real GDP growth rates; 
• unemployment rate 
• key rates; 
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• refinancing rate; 
• consumer price index; 
• ratio of overdue debts of the banking system to total debts for previous periods. 

 
After analyzing the model’s variables for statistical significance and economic reasonability the Company 
selected the following variables of the final model: 
 
a) Rate USD/TJS for the next year after the reporting period (Trading Economics). 
b) The change in the key rate for the next year after the reporting period (Trading Economics). 
 
The adjusted coefficient of determination of the regression equation equaled to 0.95. 
 
Working with collateral 

In order to reduce credit risks on loans to customers and issued guarantees, the Company requires 
whenever possible to receive collateral in form of cash, securities, letters of credit / guarantees, real 
estate, receivables, materials or other non-financial assets. The Company’s accounting policy in respect 
of collateral received under the loan agreements in accordance with IFRS 9 is similar to the accounting 
policy in accordance with IAS 39. Collateral is not recognized in the statement of financial position 
unless it was not foreclosed by the Company. However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation 
of ECL and should be measured at least at the initial stage of a loan issuance and subsequently revised 
on a quarterly basis. The Company uses available market data to evaluate financial assets held as 
collateral to the extent possible. Other financial assets, that do not have an easily determined market 
value, are valued using models. 

Maximum exposure 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependent on both individual 
risks and general market economy risks. 

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk off-balance sheet and off-balance 
sheet financial assets. For financial assets in the statement of financial statements, the maximum 
exposure is equal to the carrying amount of those assets prior to any offset or collateral. For financial 
guarantees and other off-balance sheet assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum 
amount the Company would have to pay if the guarantee was called on or in the case of commitments, if 
the loan amount was called on. 

Collateral pledge is determined based on its estimated fair value on the reporting date and limited to the 
outstanding balance of each loan as at reporting date. 

 

Maximum 
exposure 

Offset Net exposure 
after offset 

Collateral 2023 net 
exposure after 

offset and 
collateral 

      
Due from banks 133,393 - 133,393 - 133,393 
Obligatory reserve in the 
National Bank of 
Tajikistan 12,998 - 12,998 - 12,998 
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 8 - 8 - 8 
Loans to customers 1,149,560 - 1,149,560 (197,461) 952,099 
Islamic finance 
receivables 15,620 - 15,620 - 15,620 
Other assets 49,936 - 49,936 - 49,936 
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Maximum 
exposure 

Offset Net exposure 
after offset 

Collateral 2022 net 
exposure after 

offset and 
collateral 

      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 72,359 - 72,359 - 72,359 
Due from banks 29,603 - 29,603 - 29,603 
Obligatory reserve in the 
National Bank of 
Tajikistan 8,018 - 8,018 - 8,018 
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 14,121 - 14,121 - 14,121 
Loans to customers 855,635 - 855,635 (287,521) 568,114 
Islamic finance 
receivables 7,349 - 7,349 - - 
Other assets 33,108 - 33,108 - 33,108 

 

In instances where one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge a credit obligation fully or 
partially, the Company has the right to ensure fulfillment of these obligations through the: 

1. joint sale of the pledged assets; 

2. transfer of ownership rights on pledged assets in accordance with the established law; and 

3. exercising of the charge on pledged assets through judicial procedures. 

Where there is a joint sale of the pledged assets, the Company normally uses a tripartite agreement with 
the borrower and acquirer of the pledged assets. Under this agreement the acquirer of the pledged 
assets has an obligation to repay the full amount of the outstanding debt; the borrower has an obligation 
to transfer the right of ownership of the assets to the acquirer, and the Company releases the obligation 
from the borrower and removes the pledge over the assets. 

The Company exercises the charge on pledged assets through judicial procedures if it is impossible or 
inefficient to use alternative methods or where the seizure of assets pledged is required in order to 
protect the rights on the Company. 

Financial assets are graded according to the current credit rating they have been issued by 
internationally regarded agencies. The highest possible rating is Aaa. Investment grade financial assets 
have ratings from Aaa to Вaa3. Financial assets which have ratings lower than Вaa3 are classed as 
speculative grade. 

The following tables provide classification of financial assets of the Company by credit ratings: 

 
Aaa - A3  Baa1-Ba3  B1-B3  Not Rated  2023 

Total 
          
Cash and cash 
equivalents -  -  64,166  98,169  162,335 
Due from banks -  -  130,958  2,435  133,393 
Obligatory reserve 
in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan -  -  12,998  -  12,998 
Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss -  -  -  8  8 
Loans to 
customers -  -  -  1,149,560  1,149,560 
Islamic finance 
receivables -  -  -  15,620  15,620 
Other assets -  -  -  65,745  65,745 
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Aaa - A3  Baa1-Ba3  B1-B3  Not Rated  2022 

Total 
          
Cash and cash 
equivalents -  -  23,405  48,954  72,359 
Due from banks -  -  26,104  3,499  29,603 
Obligatory reserve 
in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan -  -  8,018  -  8,018 
Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss -  -  -  14,121  14,121 
Loans to 
customers -  -  -  855,635  855,635 
Islamic finance 
receivables -  -  -  7,349  7,349 
Other assets -  -  -  33,108  33,108 

 

Since not all counterparties of the Company are rated by international rating agencies, the Company 
uses an internal rating and scoring models to determine the rating of the counterparty, comparable to 
ratings of international rating agencies. Such tools include a rating model for corporate clients and 
scoring models for retail and small business customers. 
 
The banking industry is generally exposed to credit risk through its loans to customers and interbank 
deposits. Main credit risk exposure of the Company is concentrated within the Republic of Tajikistan. 
The exposure is monitored on a regular basis to ensure that the credit limits and creditworthiness 
guidelines established by the Company’s risk management policy are not breached. 

Geographical concentration 

Risk management department exercise control over the risk associated with changes in the norms of the 
legislation and assesses its impact on the Company. This approach allows the Company to minimize 
potential losses from the investment climate in the Republic of Tajikistan. 

The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is set out below: 

 
Republic of 
Tajikistan 

 OECD countries  Other  December 31,  
2023 

FINANCIAL ASSETS:        
Cash and cash equivalents 162,335  -  -  162,335 
Due from banks 131,126  136  2,131  133,393 
Obligatory reserve in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan 12,998  -  -  12,998 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 8  -  -  8 
Loans to customers 1,149,560  -  -  1,149,560 
Islamic finance receivables 15,620  -  -  15,620 
Other assets 21,143  4,955  23,838  49,936 
        TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,492,790  5,091  25,969  1,523,850 
        FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:        
Due to banks and financial institutions 8,668  -  -  8,668 
Customer accounts 384,153  -  -  384,153 
Borrowings 125,992  705,195  -  831,187 
Subordinated loans -  33,175  -  33,175 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss -  3,924  -  3,924 
Lease liabilities 12,278  -  -  12,278 
Other liabilities 47,693  351  1,044  49,088 
        TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES: 578,784  742,645  1,044  1,322,473 
        
NET POSITION 914,006  (737,554)  24,925  201,377 
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Republic of 
Tajikistan 

 OECD countries  Other  December 31,  
2022 

FINANCIAL ASSETS:        
Cash and cash equivalents 72,359  -  -  72,359 
Due from banks 26,104  -  3,499  29,603 
Obligatory reserve in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan 8,018  -  -  8,018 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 14,121  -  -  14,121 
Loans to customers 855,635  -  -  855,635 
Islamic finance receivables 7,349  -  -  7,349 
Other assets 13,059  19,894  155  33,108 
        TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 996,645  19,894  3,654  1,020,193 
        FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:        
Due to banks and financial institutions 18,865  -  -  18,865 
Customer accounts 264,671  -  -  264,671 
Borrowings 94,490  375,372  -  469,862 
Subordinated loans -  51,336  -  51,336 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 14,450  8,012  -  22,462 
Lease liabilities 6,202  -  -  6,202 
Other liabilities 32,310  5,682  640  38,632 
        TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES: 430,988  440,402  640  872,030 
        
NET POSITION 565,657  (420,508)  3,014  148,163 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk of difficulties in obtaining funds for the payment of obligations upon the 
occurrence of the actual date of payment and to meet cash requirements in the process of lending to 
clients. 

Management controls this risk by maturity analysis, determining the Company's strategy for the next 
fiscal period. Current liquidity is managed by the finance department, which supports the current level of 
liquidity sufficient to minimize liquidity risk. 
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The following table presents an analysis of balance sheet interest rate risk and liquidity risk: 

 Weighted 
average rate 

Less than  
1 month 

 1 – 3 months  3 months -  
1 year 

 1 year -  
5 years 

 More than  
5 years 

 Undefined 
 

December 31,  
2023 

               
FINANCIAL ASSETS:               
Loans to customers 33% 92,473  135,777  500,142  416,934  7  4,229  1,149,560 
Islamic finance receivables 20% 138  751  9,688  5,037  -  6  15,620 
               
Total financial assets, interest bearing  92,611  136,528  509,830  421,971  7  4,235  1,165,180 
               
Cash and cash equivalents  162,335  -  -  -  -  -  162,335 
Due from banks  74,010  -  -  59,383  -  -  133,393 
Obligatory reserve in the National Bank of Tajikistan  -  -  -  -  -  12,998  12,998 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  8  -  -  -  -  -  8 
Other assets  44,861  -  -  5,051  -  24  49,936 
               
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS  373,825  136,528  509,830  486,405  7  17,257  1,523,850 
               
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:               
Customer accounts 7% 115,390  26,023  137,110  105,576  54  -  384,153 
Borrowings 15% 41,854  5,964  114,892  645,412  23,065  -  831,187 
Subordinated loans 11% -  -  10,977  22,198  -  -  33,175 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  1,028  -  562  2,334  -  -  3,924 
Lease liabilities 15% -  -  5,439  6,839  -  -  12,278 
               
  158,272  31,987  268,980  782,359  23,119  -  1,264,717 
               
Due to banks and financial institutions  8,668  -  -  -  -  -  8,668 
Other liabilities  41,657  -  -  7,080  351  -  49,088 
               
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:  208,597  31,987  268,980  789,439  23,470  -  1,322,473 
               
Difference between financial assets and liabilities  165,228  104,541  240,850  (303,034)  (23,463)  17,257  201,377 
               
Difference between interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities  (65,661)  104,541  240,850  (360,388)  (23,112)  4,235  (99,537) 
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 Weighted 
average rate 

Less than  
1 month 

 1 – 3 months  3 months -  
1 year 

 1 year -  
5 years 

 More than  
5 years 

 Undefined 
 

December 31,  
2022 

               
FINANCIAL ASSETS:               
Loans to customers 33% 48,595  94,474  377,059  335,507  -  -  855,635 
Islamic finance receivables 20% 84  374  4,936  1,955  -  -  7,349 
               
Total financial assets, interest bearing  48,679  94,848  381,995  337,462  -  -  862,984 
               
Cash and cash equivalents  72,359  -  -  -  -  -  72,359 
Due from banks  8,058  -  21,545  -  -  -  29,603 
Obligatory reserve in the National Bank of Tajikistan  -  -  -  -  -  8,018  8,018 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  14,121  -  -  -  -  -  14,121 
Other assets  13,120  5,355  -  14,538  -  95  33,108 
               
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS  156,337  100,203  403,540  352,000  -  8,113  1,020,193 
               
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:               
Customer accounts 7% 61,466  4,321  73,933  124,906  45  -  264,671 
Borrowings 14% 20,438  8,461  86,656  351,414  2,893  -  469,862 
Subordinated loans 11% 484  -  20,380  30,472  -  -  51,336 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  14,450  -  8,012  -  -  -  22,462 
Lease liabilities 15% -  -  4,293  1,909  -  -  6,202 
               
  96,838  12,782  193,274  508,701  2,938  -  814,533 
               
Due to banks and financial institutions  18,865  -  -  -  -  -  18,865 
Other liabilities  34,348  -  4,284  -  -  -  38,632 
               
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:  150,051  12,782  197,558  508,701  2,938  -  872,030 
               
Difference between financial assets and liabilities  6,286  87,421  205,982  (156,701)  (2,938)  8,113  148,163 
               
Difference between interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities  (48,159)  82,066  188,721  (171,239)  (2,938)  -  48,451 
 
 



59 

Periods of maturity of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace interest liabilities in acceptable costs 
(at the time of redemption) are the most important conditions in determining the liquidity of the Company 
and its sensitivity to fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rates. 

A further analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following tables in accordance 
with IFRS 7. The amounts disclosed in these tables do not correspond to the amounts recorded on the 
statement of financial position as the presentation below includes a maturity analysis for financial 
liabilities that indicates the total remaining contractual payments (including interest payments), which are 
not recognized in the statement of financial position under the effective interest rate method. 

Undiscounted liabilities analysis 

The table below presents distribution of Company’s liabilities as at December 31, 2023 and December 
31, 2022 for contractual undiscounted cash outflows: 

 

Weigh-ted 
average rate 

Less than 1 
month 

 1 – 3 months  3 months-1 
year 

 1 year-5 
years 

 over 5 years  December 
31,  

2023 
FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES:             
             
Customer 
accounts 7% 95,018  26,357  151,632  123,683  114  396,804 
Borrowings 15% 45,385  6,821  131,544  731,351  24,008  939,109 
Subordinated 
loans 11% -  -  12,215  24,249  -  36,464 
Lease liabilities 15% -  -  5,439  6,839  -  12,278 

 

 

Weigh-ted 
average rate 

Less than 1 
month 

 1 – 3 months  3 months-1 
year 

 1 year-5 
years 

 over 5 years  December 
31,  

2022 
FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES:             
             
Customer 
accounts 7% 38,537  4,393  81,351  149,345  99  273,725 
Borrowings 14% 9,500  3,093  100,165  459,769  2,900  575,427 
Subordinated 
loans 11% -  -  22,169  38,778  -  60,947 
Lease liabilities 15% -  -  4,293  1,909  -  6,202 

 

Market risk 

Market risk includes risk of changes in interest rates, currency risk and other price risks faced by the 
Company. In 2023 there was no change in the composition of these risks and methods for assessing 
and managing risks in the Company. 

In case of attracting funds with a floating interest rate, the risks will be managed by the Company by 
maintaining the necessary ratio between loans at a fixed and floating rate. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The Company manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that 
could arise from adverse changes in market conditions. The Risk management department conducts 
monitoring of the Company’s current financial performance, estimates the Company’s sensitivity to 
changes in fair value interest rates and its influence on the Company’s profitability. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument due to changes in exchange rates. 
Financial position and cash flows of the Company are exposed to impact of fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates. Management exercises currency risk management by determining open 
currency position on the basis of the alleged impairment of Tajik somoni, and other macroeconomic 
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indicators, which enables the Company to minimize losses from significant fluctuations in national and 
foreign currency. 

Information about the level of foreign currency exchange rate risk of the Company is set out below: 

 
TJS  USD  EUR  RUB  Other  December 

31, 2023 
FINANCIAL 
ASSETS:            
            
Cash and cash 
equivalents 133,230  20,137  3,167  5,801  -  162,335 
Due from banks 22,642  13,800  94,687  1,968  296  133,393 
Obligatory reserve in 
the National Bank of 
Tajikistan 7,343  1,616  64  3,975  -  12,998 
Loans to customers 1,142,156  3,394  -  4,010  -  1,149,560 
Islamic finance 
receivables 15,620  -  -  -  -  15,620 
Other assets 20,935  6,882  4  22,115  -  49,936 
            
TOTAL FINANCIAL 
ASSETS 1,341,926  45,829  97,922  37,869  296  1,523,842 
            
FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES:            
            
Due to banks and 
financial institutions 7,923  491  121  133  -  8,668 
Customer accounts 312,523  24,058  3,232  44,340  -  384,153 
Borrowings 680,549  65,275  85,363  -  -  831,187 
Subordinated loans -  33,175  -  -  -  33,175 
Lease liabilities 12,278  -  -  -  -  12,278 
Other liabilities 45,073  2,848  14  1,108  45  49,088 
            
TOTAL FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES: 1,058,346  125,847  88,730  45,581  45  1,318,549 
            
OPEN CURRENCY 
POSITION 283,580  (80,018)  9,192  (7,712)  251  205,293 
            
The effect of 
derivatives (98,619)  82,702  (7,264)  19,265  -  (3,916) 
            
NET POSITION 184,961  2,684  1,928  11,553  251  201,377 

 

The Company does not have a negative foreign exchange position in US dollars and Euros according to 
the requirements of its regulator - the National Bank of Tajikistan, since according to the requirements of 
the National Bank of Tajikistan, the allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets 
denominated in foreign currency is created in somoni, and not in their original currency as stated in 
above. 
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TJS  USD  EUR  RUB  Other  December 

31, 2022 
FINANCIAL 
ASSETS:            
            
Cash and cash 
equivalents 48,817  12,026  9,049  2,467  -  72,359 
Due from banks 754  704  22,463  5,682  -  29,603 
Obligatory reserve in 
the National Bank of 
Tajikistan 8,018  -  -  -  -  8,018 
Loans to customers 848,358  3,909  -  3,368  -  855,635 
Islamic finance 
receivables 7,349  -  -  -  -  7,349 
Other assets 8,181  21,123  -  3,553  251  33,108 
            
TOTAL FINANCIAL 
ASSETS 921,477  37,762  31,512  15,070  251  1,006,072 
            
FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES:            
            
Due to banks and 
financial institutions 18,359  232  148  126  -  18,865 
Customer accounts 246,564  14,966  14  3,127  -  264,671 
Borrowings 349,668  73,598  46,596  -  -  469,862 
Subordinated loans -  51,336  -  -  -  51,336 
Lease liabilities 6,202  -  -  -  -  6,202 
Other liabilities 31,297  6,914  41  380  -  38,632 
            
TOTAL FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES: 652,090  147,046  46,799  3,633  -  849,568 
            
OPEN CURRENCY 
POSITION 269,387  (109,284)  (15,287)  11,437  251  156,504 
            
The effect of 
derivatives (122,909)  124,932  5,446  (15,810)  -  (8,341) 
            
NET POSITION 146,478  15,648  (9,841)  (4,373)  251  148,163 

 

Currency rate sensitivity 

The table below represents sensitivity analysis of the Company to 10% increase and decrease in 
currency rate to somoni in 2023 and 2022. Based on the current economic environment in the Republic 
of Tajikistan management of the Company believes that 10% increase of USD to TJS exchange rate is a 
realistic change. 10% - a level of sensitivity, which is used internally by Companies when reporting 
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel of the Company and is an estimate by the 
management of the Company. Sensitivity analysis include only amounts in foreign currency as at period 
end, for which rates are used changed by 10% compared to current ones during conversion. 

Impact on net income, based on the nominal value of the asset as at December 31, 2023 and December 
31, 2022 is represented below: 

 2023  2022 

 

Official 
exchange rate, 

+10%  

Official 
exchange rate, 

-10%  

Official 
exchange rate, 

+10%  

Official 
exchange rate, 

-10% 
        
USD 3,186  (3,186)  1,565  (1,565) 
Euro 2,118  (2,118)  (984)  984 
Ruble (771)  771  (437)  437 
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Limitations of sensitivity analysis 

The above tables demonstrate the effect of changes based on the main clause while other assumptions 
remain unchanged. In fact, there is a connection between the assumptions and other factors. It should 
also be noted that the sensitivity has nonlinear character so should not be interpolated or extrapolated 
from these results. 

Sensitivity analysis does not take into account that the Company actively manages the assets and 
liabilities. In addition, the Company’s financial position may be subject to change depending on changes 
in the market. For example, the strategy of the Company’s financial risk management aims to manage 
exposure to market fluctuations. In the case of sudden adverse price fluctuations in the securities market 
leadership can refer to such methods as selling investments, changing investment portfolio, as well as 
other methods of protection. 

Consequently, changes in assumptions may not have influence on the commitment and significant 
impact on the assets recorded on the balance sheet at market price. In this situation, different methods 
of valuation of assets and liabilities may lead to volatility in equity. 

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analysis include the use of hypothetical market movements with 
a view to the disclosure of potential risks, which represent only the Company’s forecast of the upcoming 
changes in the market that cannot be predicted with any certainty. 

Accounting classification and fair values 

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
as at December 31, 2023: 

 

Valued at 
amortized cost 

 Valued at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

 Valued at fair 
value through 

OCI 

 Total carrying 
amount 

 Fair value 

          
Cash and cash 
equivalents 162,335  -  -  162,335  162,335 
Due from banks 133,393  -  -  133,393  133,393 
Obligatory reserve 
in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan 12,998  -  -  12,998  12,998 
Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss -  8  -  

8 
 

8 

Loans to 
customers 1,149,560  -  -  1,149,560  1,149,560 
Islamic finance 
receivables 15,620  -  -  15,620  15,620 

Other assets 49,936  -  -  49,936  49,936 
          
 1,523,842  8  -  1,523,850  1,523,850 
          
Due to banks and 
financial 
institutions 8,668  -  -  8,668  8,668 
Customer 
accounts 384,153  -  -  384,153  384,153 
Borrowings 831,187  -  -  831,187  831,187 
Subordinated 
loans 33,175  -  -  33,175  33,175 

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss -  3,924  -  3,924  3,924 
Lease liabilities 12,278  -  -  12,278  12,278 
Other liabilities 49,088  -  -  49,088  49,088 
          
 1,318,549  3,924  -  1,322,473  1,322,473 
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The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
as at December 31, 2022: 

 

Valued at 
amortized cost 

 Valued at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

 Valued at fair 
value through 

OCI 

 Total carrying 
amount 

 Fair value 

          
Cash and cash 
equivalents 72,359  -  -  72,359  72,359 
Due from banks 29,603  -  -  29,603  29,603 
Obligatory reserve 
in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan 8,018  -  -  8,018 

 
8,018 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss -  14,121  -  

14,121  14,121 

Loans to 
customers 855,635  -  -  855,635  855,635 
Islamic finance 
receivables 7,349  -  -  7,349  7,349 

Other assets 33,108  -  -  33,108  33,108 
          
 1,006,072  14,121  -  1,020,193  1,020,193 
          
Due to banks and 
financial 
institutions 18,865  -  -  18,865 

 
18,865 

Customer 
accounts 264,671  -  -  264,671  264,671 
Borrowings 469,862  -  -  469,862  469,862 
Subordinated 
loans 51,336  -  -  51,336  51,336 

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss -  22,462  -  22,462 

 
22,462 

Lease liabilities 6,202  -  -  6,202  6,202 
Other liabilities 38,632  -  -  38,632  38,632 
          
 849,568  22,462  -  872,030  872,030 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Fair value is defined as the value at which a financial instrument can be acquired in a transaction 
between well-informed, willing to make such a transaction parties, independent from each other except 
cases of forced or liquidation sale. The presented estimates may not reflect the amounts that the 
Company could receive if there was an actual sale of a package of certain financial instruments. 

The carrying amount of cash is approximately equal to the fair value due to the short-term nature of such 
financial instruments. 

IFRS 13 defines fair value as the amount that would be received after selling an asset or paid after 
transferring a liability in an orderly transaction on the main (or most advantageous) market at the 
measurement date under current market conditions. Since there are no markets for most of the 
Company's financial instruments, under the current economic conditions and specific risks that 
characterize the tool, a judgement should be applied to determine the fair value. 

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the following methods and assumptions were used 
by the Company to assess the fair value of financial instruments for which it was practical to determine 
the value: 

Cash and cash equivalents - current value of cash and cash equivalents corresponds to fair value. 
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Accounts receivable and other accounts receivable - current value approximates the fair value of these 
financial instruments, as the allowance for doubtful debts is valid estimation of the required discount to 
reflect the credit risk. 

Accounts payable and other liabilities - current value approximates the fair value of these financial 
instruments due to the short-term nature of the instrument. 

Long-term liabilities - current value approximates fair value as the interest rate of long-term debt 
approximates market rate, with reference to loans with similar credit risk and maturity at the reporting 
date. 

Fair values are primarily determined using quoted market prices or standard pricing models using 
observable market inputs where available and are presented to reflect the expected gross future cash 
in/outflows. The Company classifies the fair values of its financial instruments into a three level hierarchy 
based on the degree of the source and observability of the inputs that are used to derive the fair value of 
the financial asset or liability as follows: 

Level 1 Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Company can assess at the measurement date; or 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted inputs included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly; or 

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities, requiring the Company to make 
market-based assumptions. 

Level 1 classifications primarily include financial assets and financial liabilities that are exchange traded, 
whereas Level 2 classifications primarily include financial assets and financial liabilities which derive 
their fair value primarily from exchange quotes and readily observable quotes. Level 3 classifications 
primarily include financial assets and financial liabilities which derive their fair value predominately from 
models that use applicable market based estimates surrounding location, quality and credit differentials. 
In circumstances where the Company cannot verify fair value with observable market inputs (Level 3 fair 
values), it is possible that a different valuation model could produce a materially different estimate of fair 
value. 

It is the Company’s policy that transactions and activities in trade related financial instruments be 
concluded under master netting agreements or long form confirmations to enable balances due to/from a 
common counterparty to be offset in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy by the counterparty. 

The following tables show the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as at December 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022. Other assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis are cash and cash equivalents. There are no nonrecurring fair value measurements. 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  December 31,  
2023 

        
Cash and cash equivalents 162,335  -  -  162,335 
Due from banks 133,393  -  -  133,393 
Obligatory reserve in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan 12,998  -  -  12,998 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss -  8  -  8 
Loans to customers -  1,149,560  -  1,149,560 
Islamic finance receivables -  15,620  -  15,620 
Other assets -  -  49,936  49,936 
        
 308,726  1,165,188  49,936  1,523,850 
        

  



65 

 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  December 31,  

2023 
        
Due to banks and financial institutions 8,668  -  -  8,668 
Customer accounts -  384,153  -  384,153 
Borrowings -  831,187  -  831,187 
Subordinated loans -  33,175  -  33,175 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss -  3,924  -  3,924 
Lease liabilities -  12,278  -  12,278 
Other liabilities -  -  49,088  49,088 
        
 8,668  1,264,717  49,088  1,322,473 

 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  December 31,  
2022 

        
Cash and cash equivalents 72,359  -  -  72,359 
Due from banks 29,603  -  -  29,603 
Obligatory reserve in the National 
Bank of Tajikistan 8,018  -  -  8,018 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss -  14,121  -  14,121 
Loans to customers -  855,635  -  855,635 
Islamic finance receivables -  7,349  -  7,349 
Other assets -  -  33,108  33,108 
        
 109,980  877,105  33,108  1,020,193 
        
Due to banks and financial institutions 18,865  -  -  18,865 
Customer accounts -  264,671  -  264,671 
Borrowings -  469,862  -  469,862 
Subordinated loans -  51,336  -  51,336 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss -  22,462  -  22,462 
Lease liabilities -  6,202  -  6,202 
Other liabilities -  -  38,632  38,632 
        
 18,865  814,533  38,632  872,030 

 

37. SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Company's activities apply only to commercial lending and are concentrated in the Republic of 
Tajikistan. 

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

On February 27, 2024, the Company signed a loan agreement with EMF Microfinance fund AGMVK, in 
the amount of 2,000 thousand US dollars. The maturity date of the agreement is March 01, 2026. 

As of the date of the Company's financial statements, no significant events or transactions, which must 
be disclosed in accordance with IAS 10 “Events after the Reporting Period”, have occurred. 
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